
Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

Tuesday 17 January 2017 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester





Date Published: 9 January 2017     

Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

Tuesday 17 January 2017 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meetings (Pages 1 - 10)

The Board to approve the minutes of the meetings on Tuesday 20 
September 2016 and Tuesday 29 November 2016.

Andrea Clarke

4  Public Questions 

To answer any written or oral questions about matters which are within the 
powers and duties of the Board.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 10.00am on 10 
January 2017.Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the 
attention of Andrea Clarke (email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

An oral question may be asked by a member of the public if notice of the 
question is given by the questioner to the person presiding at the meeting, 
or the Chief Executive’s representative, at least 30 minutes prior to the start 
of the meeting.

Depending on the nature of the questions asked it may not be possible to 
provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in which case a written 
answer will be supplied as soon as reasonably possible after the meeting.

Chair

5  Members' Questions 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Board. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 10 January 2017. Please send questions to the 

Chair

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

Chief Executive marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

6  Sustainability and Transformation Plan - Update Mary Hutton

7  Future in Mind Transformation Plan - Update (Pages 11 - 42) Helen Ford

8  Housing - Report from the Better Care Fund Forum (Pages 43 - 58) Mary Morgan

CHARTERS

9  Charter: Transform the lives of people with dementia in your 
community (Pages 61 - 74)

Helen Vaughan

10  Motor Neurone Disease Association (MNDA) Charter (Pages 75 - 82) Mary Hutton

Membership – Ingrid Barker (Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust), Cllr Jennie Dallimore 
(Leadership Gloucestershire), Suzette Davenport (Chief Constable Gloucestershire Constabulary), 
Claire Feehily (Healthwatch Gloucestershire), Ruth FitzJohn (2Gether NHS Foundation Trust), 
David Hagg (District Council Chief Officer), Mary Hutton (Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group), Peter Lachecki (Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust), Rachel Pearce (NHS 
England), Dr Hein Le Roux (Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), Sarah Scott (Director 
of Public Health), Dr Andy Seymour (Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), 
PCC Martin Surl (Police and Crime Commissioner), Linda Uren (Director of Children's Services) 
and Margaret Willcox OBE (Director of Adult Services) Cllr Dorcas Binns (Chair), Cllr Colin Hay, 
Cllr Paul McLain and Cllr Lesley Williams MBE

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns Tel: 01452 328472 /fax: 01452 
425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting. 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 
instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD
MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board held on Tuesday 20 
September 2016 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Cllr Dorcas Binns (Chair)
Cllr Jennie Dallimore
Suzette Davenport
Claire Feehily
David Hagg
Cllr Colin Hay

Dr Hein Le Roux
Sarah Scott
Dr Andy Seymour
Linda Uren
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE

Substitutes: Richard Bradley (In place of PCC Martin Surl)
Mark Branton (in place of Margaret Willcox OBE)
Shaun Clee (In place of Ruth FitzJohn)

Officers in attendance: Hannah Williams, End of Life Commissioning Manager, 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Apologies: Ingrid Barker, Clair Chilvers, Mary Hutton, Cllr Paul McLain and Rachel Pearce

41. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of interest were received.

42. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
The minutes of the meeting held on the 19 July 2016 were agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chair.

43. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
No public questions were received.

44. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 
No member questions were received.

45. END OF LIFE STRATEGY 
45.1 The End of Life Commissioning Manager, Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

(GCCG), gave a detailed presentation to the Board. (For information the presentation slides 
were uploaded to the council website and included in the minute book.) 

45.2 The presentation outlined the overarching Gloucestershire Aim, the twelve strategic aims 
that underpin this vision; and how these aims would be achieved. The GCCG End of Life 
Board, chaired by Dr Hein le Roux, was leading on this area of work, and the End of Life 
Strategy was due to be received by the GCCG Board on 29 September 2016 for approval. 

45.3 It was clarified that this strategy related to people over 18 and that it was expected that in 
due course this would develop into an all age strategy. It was acknowledged that at present 
there was no formal work in place with the district councils. It was explained that once the 
strategy was approved by the GCCG Board the relevant workstream would pick this work 
up; and that national guidance was in place on housing (which was a district council 
responsibility) and end of life. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

45.4 In response to a question it was explained that Gloucestershire has more hospice services 
than comparable areas; and that there was an active hospice at home service in the 
county. It was emphasised that what was wanted, and what we wanted to provide was a 
consistent standard and offer of care, that took an holistic approach that included, but was 
not limited to, health and social care, benefits and housing. 

45.5 It was explained that the strategy would need to be taken through the governance 
processes of each organisation on the End of Life Board; and that there would then be a 
formal launch to the general public. It was hoped that the complementary website would 
also be launched at the same time. 

45.6 The Board offered its support to the progress of this strategy and hoped that the dialogue 
to start the process to extending the range of the strategy to all ages would begin soon.

46. JOINT HWBS DELIVERY PLAN PERFORMANCE REPORT 
46.1 The Director of Public Health (DPH) presented the report, and reminded the Board that the 

data presented was by exception. The Board were informed that the contract to deliver 
drug and alcohol support for five years from January 2017 had been awarded to a new 
provider, CGL (a health and social care charity). 

46.2 It was agreed that it would be helpful to include information on what impact this work was 
having on the ground; and for the next report (June 2017) to include observations and 
proposals to reduce the number of actions listed in order to be able to clearly identify where 
real change was happening.

46.3 It was also agreed that in response to the number of new members on the Board a Board 
development session would be arranged with the focus on the roles and responsibilities of 
the Board, and its members, and its role in the evolving health and social care landscape 
(eg. devolution and the Sustainability and Transformation Plan).

46.4 The Board agreed to note the mid-year performance report for the Joint Health and 
wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) Delivery Plans 2016 – 2019.

47. SUSTAINABILITY AND TRANSFORMATION PLAN (STP) UPDATE 
47.1 The Director of Public Health (DPH) informed the Board that the Independent Chair of the 

Gloucestershire Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) has been appointed. Further 
work was required on the finance plan, and following this work the plan would be 
resubmitted to NHS England (NHSE). 

47.2 In response to a question the Board was informed that the financial position of the 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust would not preclude the STP being 
submitted to NHSE.

47.3 It was commented that although Leadership Gloucestershire has signed up to the STP, 
there had been some concern voiced at the most recent meeting that the Leaders of the 
District Councils had not seen the plan. The Vice Chair of the Board explained that national 
guidance imposed by NHSE prevented the publication of the plan at this juncture, however 
it was further commented that it should be made clear to NHSE that this approach was not 
helpful for such a high level plan.

47.4 It was agreed that once the STP was in the public domain it could be helpful to hold a 
Board development session to discuss this matter. It was also agreed that it was important 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

for the Board to maintain focus on its Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and that this was 
delivering on expected outcomes.

47.5 It was noted that the Board would receive a further update on the STP in the new year.

48. PREVENTION AND CARE PLAN UPDATE 
The Board agreed to note the plan; and to support the further development of the plan by 
allocating staff resource to the Prevention and Self-Care Board and associated work 
streams as necessary.

49. COMMUNITY SAFETY REVIEW - CONSULTATION 
49.1 The Deputy Chief Executive, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, gave the 

context for this review, in particular that it was important to bring this work together in a 
constructive and cohesive way, with robust governance in place, to best safeguard the 
people of Gloucestershire. 

49.2 The Board engaged in a detailed debate and agreed that its comments be submitted into 
the consultation process. 

49.3 Following the meeting the following statement (signed off by the Chair and Vice Chair) was 
therefore submitted as part of the consultation: -
The Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board (GHWB) discussed the Community Safety 
in Gloucestershire Consultation Review at its meeting on 20 September 2016. 

 
The GHWB agree that it is important to have a robust governance structure in place to 
ensure that there is clear line of accountability in the county for community safety. 

 
The GHWB notes that its agenda cuts across that of an overarching Community Safety 
Partnership in particular with regard to Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence, Drug and 
Alcohol Misuse, Mental Health and the Children’s Partnership. The GHWB is clear that it 
wishes to retain an interest in these issues.

 
The GHWB noted the issues concerning the 18 to 25 year old population which are 
identified in the review and would want to see a specific focus on this group to make sure 
they don’t fall between adult and children’s services.

 
Whilst recognising that the issue of the relationship between any new Community Safety 
partnership the GHWB are recognised in the body of the report the final options do not 
appear to take this any further. Option 3 seems to be the option that matched the 
objectives of this Review, but further work is needed to clarify the role of the GHWB. The 
GHWB agree that this oversight should be addressed particularly given that the GHWB 
would retain its role within a Combined Authority.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 11.55 am

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD
MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board held on Tuesday 29 
November 2016 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Suzette Davenport
Ruth FitzJohn
David Hagg
Mary Hutton
Cllr Paul McLain

Dr Hein Le Roux
Sarah Scott
Dr Andy Seymour
Linda Uren
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE

Apologies: Ingrid Barker, Cllr Dorcas Binns, Cllr Colin Hay, Peter Lachecki and Rachel 
Pearce

Also in attendance: -
Alice Ciereszko Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young 

People
Barbara Piranty Healthwatch Gloucestershire 
Cathy Griffiths Head of Quality Children and Young People
Claire Mould Gloucestershire VCS Alliance
Cllr Alison Coggins Cotswold District Council
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin Forest of Dean District Council
Cllr Collette Finnegan Gloucester City Council
Cllr Lesley Williams Gloucestershire County Council 
Cllr Ron Allen Tewkesbury Borough Council
Cllr Steve Jordan Cheltenham Borough Council
Cllr Steve Lydon Stroud District Council
Dani Read CSE Team Family Worker
Dave McCallum Independent Chair GSCB
Detective Constable Becky King Gloucestershire Constabulary
Detective Sergeant Nigel Hatton Gloucestershire Constabulary
Emma Jarman South Gloucestershire and Stroud College
Emma Keating Clark Stroud District Council
Fiona Castle Local Pharmaceutical Committee
Helen Evans Gloucestershire College
Jane Burns Gloucestershire County Council
Jane Price CSE Coordinator
Jo Walker Gloucestershire County Council
Kathy O’Mahony Operations Director - Childrens Safeguarding
Lesley Worsfold Hartpury College
Mark Branton Assistant Director Adult Social Care 

Commissioning 
Pat Pratley Cheltenham Borough Council
Paul Yeatman Independent Chair GSAB
Paula Baker Tewkesbury Borough Council
Peter Williams Forest of Dean District Council
Richard Bradley Representing Office of the PCC 
Riki Moody Gloucestershire Care Providers Association 
Sally Morrissey Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Support 

Service (GDASS)
Sarah Jasper Adult Safeguarding
Sarah Thompson South Western Ambulance Service NHS 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

Foundation Trust (SWASFT)
Sue Mead Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust

50. SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN AND ADULTS IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE 
50.1 Introduction 
50.1.1 This meeting of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board involved Board members 

and representatives from key partners across the Gloucestershire local government, 
Police, health, social care and education landscape.

50.1.2 The meeting heard from the Independent Chairs of both the Gloucestershire Safeguarding 
Children and Adults Boards (GSCB and GSAB), the Head of the Gloucestershire Domestic 
Abuse Support Service, the Police and Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) team members, 
and an Adult Safeguarding Service Manager. (For information all the presentation slides 
were uploaded to the council website and included in the minute book).

50.1.3 The purpose of the meeting was to understand the pressures at the front door; gain a 
broader understanding of the issues relating to domestic abuse; how CSE was being 
tackled; and, the dilemma presented by the need to respect an individual’s right and ability 
to make their own decisions and the negative impact this could have on their health and 
wellbeing (illustrated through a safeguarding adult review related to self-neglect). 

50.1.4 The presentations by the Safeguarding Board Chairs demonstrated that the pressures on 
the system cut across both children and adults. Ownership of the safeguarding agenda by 
all partners and organisations was a key factor. Helping the wider community to understand 
safeguarding issues and what to do if people had concerns was another important aspect. 
Safeguarding was everyone’s responsibility and business and we all needed to be clear 
what this meant for each organisation, and on an individual basis, eg. what were our 
responsibilities – and what should we do if we have concerns. 

50.1.5 It was important to have robust policies in place, but these must be active policies and 
regularly reviewed to ensure that they were fit for purpose; and it was essential to 
understand whether policy (and procedure) was making a difference on the ground. This 
meant that it was important to have effective quality assurance (QA) processes. The GSCB 
had developed a robust QA framework and this has been in place for some time; the GSAB 
has also adopted a similar QA framework. 

50.2 Domestic Abuse
50.2.1 Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Support Service (GDASS) has seen a significant increase 

in the number of referrals to the service – in the twelve months November 2015 and 
November 2016 there were 4537 referrals. Domestic abuse affected people from all walks 
of life; it was no respecter of age, ethnicity, gender, or disability. 

50.2.3 Serious case reviews (SCRs) undertaken by the GSCB had identified that not enough was 
known about the level of domestic abuse between teenagers. Working with young people 
to help them understand what a healthy relationship looked, and felt, like was crucial to 
their longer term health and well-being. This was a complex area particularly as there was 
also a cross over with CSE. Supporting young people’s understanding of domestic abuse 
was a key part of the work of GDASS. A Young People’s Violence Advisor (YPVA) (funded 
through the Hollie Gazzard Trust holliegazzard.org) liaised with schools and young 
people’s groups and projects to integrate healthy relationships workshops into them. If 
GDASS could raise awareness of abuse within relationships from an early age, it could 
start to prevent these relationships from happening. 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

50.2.4 There were significant barriers that prevented people from accessing support. In young 
people it could be that they did not understand what domestic abuse was, there was no 
domestic abuse pathway for young people under 16, and there could be a general distrust 
of agencies. For adults there was the fear that their children could be taken away from 
them, high adult social care thresholds, and that the blame and responsibility was often put 
on the mother, and it was the victim who, in the main, had to leave the family home not the 
perpetrator. 

50.2.5 There was agreement that it was important to understand what organisations could do 
collectively to address domestic abuse. It was questioned whether organisations reviewed 
their sick leave information to ascertain if for some people there was a pattern that could 
benefit from further analysis. It was also felt that housing benefit could play a significant 
role, as there was a risk of financial abuse being part of the overall domestic abuse 
situation.

50.2.6 The Independent Chair of the GSAB informed the meeting that when undertaking a 
safeguarding adult review it was often identified that if partners had better communicated 
with each other then it would have been easier to put together the pieces of the jigsaw. 
This linked to the question of to how partners could work together more proactively. The 
Director of Children’s Services stated that the use of Family Group Conferences in Leeds 
was having a positive impact, and that she wanted to repeat some of this work in 
Gloucestershire. 

50.2.7 There was a concern as to whether Dementia was a particular issue. It was felt that the 
inappropriate behaviour exhibited by some dementia sufferers was more about the illness. 
The Chair of the 2Gether NHS Foundation Trust undertook to raise this with the 
appropriate clinical lead at the Trust.

50.3 Child Sexual Exploitation 
50.3.1 The Police and members of the CSE team, through a role play exercise, illustrated some of 

the challenges and barriers faced by professionals when trying to help young people at risk 
of/experiencing CSE. Young people were often reluctant to engage with the Police and 
other agencies due fear of reprisals on themselves and their families, and a belief that no 
one could keep them safe.

50.3.2 The meeting was interested to note that in this particular case even though no formal 
complaint had been made the Police were able to use civil powers, particularly related to 
modern slavery/trafficking legislation and utilising sexual risk orders, to effect a successful 
prosecution. This was the result of all agencies working together to identify how to effect a 
positive solution. The civil courts were able to able to impose stringent conditions relating to 
contact with the victim, and in this case the victim was now in a safe place, and the (seven) 
perpetrators have been jailed, and the organisation disrupted. This process had identified 
other children who were at risk and who needed to be safeguarded. Whilst this was a 
positive outcome it was important to be aware that the CSE team was small and this type 
of activity was resource intensive; and during the prosecution period the team would be 
subject to intense pressure from the perpetrators and their legal team. It was clear that the 
only way that this work could be successful was through good partnership working. It was 
of particular note that the young woman, in this case, was not already known to agencies, 
and not on anyone’s radar. 

50.3.3 A significant factor here was that many young people did not recognise that they were 
being exploited. Awareness raising was important. There was a programme of activity in 
schools to support and inform young people. The Independent Report into Child Sexual 
Exploitation in Rotherham 1997 to 2013 (also known as the Jay report) had discussed the 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

role of taxi drivers and in many areas of the country safeguarding training was now a 
requirement for their licence. In Gloucestershire there was a rolling programme of training 
sessions with taxi drivers, and by the end of this year 1000 taxi drivers would have gone 
through this training. Taxi licencing was the responsibility of the district councils and it was 
clarified that this condition was already in place in Cheltenham and it was expected that the 
other district councils would also impose this condition. Officers were also looking to work 
with Bed and Breakfasts and Hotels, and to work more with the seldom heard groups.

50.3.4 Gathering intelligence was so important and local communities could have a role here; but 
within some communities there was a reluctance, or even a cultural imperative, not to 
engage with the ‘authorities’ especially the Police.

50.4 Adult Safeguarding Review – Self-Neglect 
50.4.1 The last section of the meeting focused on the findings of an adult safeguarding review. 

This review explored the impact of self-neglect. Most attendees at the meeting found the 
detail of this presentation distressing to hear, and for some, given the devastating impact of 
the situation on the individual the overriding question was why had agencies not intervened 
to safeguard this person?

50.4.2 The significant challenge in this case, and many others, was that if the individual had the 
mental capacity to make their own decisions (even though others might think that they were 
the wrong decisions) their right to do so must be respected; and this right was enshrined in 
law. In this particular case the only point at which the individual lost that ability was when 
they became unconscious and family members present made the decision to call 999. 

50.4.3 This individual participated in the review of their case. They were clear that there was no 
one else to blame but themselves. They were currently still undergoing rehabilitation and 
were clear that their life choices have now changed. For the professionals involved this 
case highlighted the difficulties faced when trying to work with people who did not want 
help, or were perhaps too embarrassed to admit they needed it, but had the mental 
capacity to make those decisions. The review did identify learning points for all partners, 
including reviewing case decision points, and how to work with private housing landlords to 
help them understand safeguarding issues. The big question remained though – how could 
professionals respond to this type of case within the context of having a duty of care but 
also needing to respect an individual’s right to make their own decisions?

50.4.4 There was a robust debate on the issues raised in this review. The need for compassion 
and care, quiet but persistent assurance, and a risk management approach were 
discussed. The VCS Alliance Chair informed the meeting that the voluntary and community 
sector (VCS) could play an effective role in these cases. However she felt that the statutory 
agencies did not always respect the expertise amongst the VCS. The Independent Chair of 
the GSAB assured the VCS Alliance that, for him, this review had identified the need to 
work more effectively with the VCS. However, the overarching question as to what could 
you do if the individual has the mental capacity to make their own decisions remained ‘on 
the table’. 

50.5 Conclusion 
50.5.1 The presentations and discussions had highlighted the many challenges faced across 

services and raised many questions, including: -
 How could partners/agencies collectively make the system work to the benefit of 

vulnerable children, young people and adults in Gloucestershire?
 How could the system manage/withstand the increase in referrals across all ages?
 What could be done to ensure that the system does not break under the pressure?

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

 How could the system be moved toward a more proactive (rather than reactive) 
approach?

 What could you do when people at risk don’t want to talk to you?
 How could these cases be managed within the context of a limited resource? 
 What could you do to help people see that they are at risk from themselves or other 

people? 
 How could partners/agencies work better together?
 What could each organisation do to better support vulnerable young people and 

adults? 
 What could be done to inform the wider community about safeguarding issues?

50.5.2 With regard to the elected membership on the county council it was suggested that 
safeguarding training should be included on the member development programme in the 
next council?

50.5.3 To conclude the meeting each organisation was challenged to think about what one thing 
would they do over the next year to improve safeguarding in Gloucestershire? 

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.00 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title 2016 update to ‘Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind, 5 year 
Transformation Plan to Improve Children’s Mental Health’.

Item for 
decision or 
information?

For decision

Sponsor Kim Forey

Author Helen Ford

Organisation Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

Key Issues:  

During 2015 all local areas were required to produce a plan to transform 
support for children’s mental health. ‘Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind, 5 Year 
Transformation Plan for Children’s Mental Health’ was signed off by the Health 
& Wellbeing Board (HWBB), Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) and the 
CCG, and submitted for approval to NHS England in October 2015 with 
excellent feedback received from them as follows:

“In particular, the Task & Finish Group complimented the high level of 
ambition, the governance arrangements, the excellent partnership working 
with schools, and the work done to date to improve CAMHS across 
Gloucestershire that will provide a springboard for the delivery of the service 
improvements proposed.”

We are now required by NHS England to produce an annual update approved 
by GCC, the CCG and the HWBB. The aim of this refresh is to reflect local 
progress with transforming the system of support for children and young 
people and further ambitions based on our local developing work in this 
important area. 

Both the CCG and GCC have approved the update via the Joint 
Commissioning Partnership Board. Following approval by the HWBB and 
subsequently NHS England, the plan will be published on the CCG website 
alongside our annual spend and activity on children’s mental health.

Recommendations to Board: 

 Note the good progress made with implementing the plan
 Approve the 2016 update to the plan.

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



Financial/Resource Implications: 

Funding associated with the Future in Mind Programme

Page 12



Page 13



Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind; 2016 update

1. Introduction

This update of ‘Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind 5 Year Transformation plan for 
improving Children and Young People’s Mental Health’ should be read in conjunction 
with the original ‘Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind’ document which remains the main 
reference point. The aim of this refresh is to reflect local progress with transforming 
the system of support for children and young people and further ambitions based on 
our local developing work in this important area. This update has been developed 
based on our refreshed needs assessment and with engagement from a wide range 
of stakeholders including children and young people, parents and carers, schools, 
social care and the wider partnerships.

We continue with robust governance arrangements and oversight of the 
implementation as described in the original plan. In addition to this the 
implementation of Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind sits firmly within the 
Gloucestershire Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) published in 
November 2016 as a key element for the current and future health and wellbeing of 
our population. For more information: 
http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/gloucestershire-stp/

2. 2016 update to the needs assessment

In August 2015, a children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing needs 
assessment was produced to inform the development of Gloucestershire’s Future in 
Mind transformation plan. As part of the 2016 update to the transformation plan, its 
authors have requested updates to certain sections of the needs assessment. The 
full update can be found in Appendix 1.

2.1 ‘Higher risk’ groups

The 2015 needs assessment identified a number of groups of children and young 
people who are at a higher risk of developing poor mental health because of 
particular characteristics or circumstances.

2.1.1 Accompanied and unaccompanied asylum seeking children

The 2015 needs assessment recommended that the mental health needs arising 
from a potential increase in numbers of asylum seekers arriving in the UK should be 
monitored during the lifetime of the transformation plan and action taken where 
required. Since then, there has been a rise across Europe in the numbers of 
refugees and asylum seekers, including unaccompanied asylum seeking children 
(UASC), fleeing countries such as Syria.

At the time of writing, it is expected that a further 70-80 UASC will be arriving in 
Gloucestershire through one route or another. At the time of writing, some 20+ have 

Page 14

http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/gloucestershire-stp/


arrived already, with the timing for the remainder being unknown. Based on 
government and other guidance, the expectation is that these CYP will be treated as 
if they were children in care (CiC) (albeit with a range of complexities) from the point 
of view of process and assessment of needs.

It is recommended that commissioners of children and young people’s mental health 
services should continue to work with children’s social care colleagues and other 
partners to remain up to date with potential increases in UASC arriving in 
Gloucestershire and to ensure these children, where they need it, can access 
appropriate mental health support. 

2.1.2 Children subject to social care assessments    

The 2015 needs assessment identified a number of family factors that placed 
children and young people at a higher risk of developing poor mental health. These 
included parental mental illness and substance misuse. Both of these issues 
continue to regularly appear as factors in children’s social assessments. This is in 
addition to domestic violence which is a key factor in assessments, which also 
places children at a higher risk of developing poor mental health. It is recommended 
that commissioners should continue to work with adult services for mental health, 
domestic violence and substance misuse and ensure that the impact of these issues 
on children living in affected families is taken into account in service design and 
delivery.

The 2015 needs assessment recommended that the provision of evidence-based 
trauma recovery support be considered for, amongst others, children who have been 
a victim of CSE or sexual abuse. This remains a relevant recommendation.

2.1.3 Children in care 

Although the number of children in care in Gloucestershire remained under 500 until 
2013, there has been a steady increase, with 639 children in care registered in 
August 2016 

As identified in the 2015 needs assessment, there is evidence that being in care can 
place a child at higher risk of developing poor mental health because of the factors 
leading to them coming into care and, importantly, experiences of trauma such as 
those outlined above.

The 2015 needs assessment also identified a potentially improving trend in the 
average Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) score, which measure the 
emotional wellbeing of children in care in Gloucestershire. However, the latest 
available data shows that this trend has begun to worsen again, with the average 
score in Gloucestershire in 2014/15 being classified as ‘borderline cause for 
concern’.

Given the increase in the number of children in care in Gloucestershire and the slight 
increase in SDQ scores, further consideration should be given to meeting the mental 
health needs of this cohort, and any particular needs that arise from issues such as 
neglect and sexual exploitation.

Page 15



2.2 Young people’s mental health needs 

There has been no update to national prevalence data since the 2015 needs 
assessment, which used data from a 2004 Office for National Statistics (ONS) 
survey. However, the delivery of certain elements of the transformation plan, such as 
the Schools Pilot, and a more recent Online Pupil Survey (OPS) has added to our 
understanding of the mental health needs of young people in Gloucestershire. This 
local intelligence will continue to be used to enhance the implementation of our plan 
and its refinement as outlined below.

2.2.1 Gloucestershire online pupil survey

Results of the biannual Online Pupil Survey (OPS) took place in 2016, with a sample 
size of 29,516 children and young people across years 4-12.  Whilst the survey 
shows that there have been some improvements in aspects of emotional wellbeing, 
based on its findings it is recommended that consideration should be given to the 
needs of older girls and to pressures created by school work beyond Year 8. Work to 
build resilience in children and young people should also continue, e.g. through the 
work of Gloucestershire Healthy Living & Learning (GHLL) and should take account 
of the findings of the OPS.  

2.2.2 Schools pilot

Since January 2016, 15 schools and colleges in the Stroud area have been taking 
part in a pilot project to provide training and encourage subsequent joint working to 
improve local knowledge and identification of mental health issues for children and 
young people and improve referrals to specialist services. The pilot includes primary 
and secondary schools, a further education college, a special school and alternative 
provision. 

As well as identifying considerable need for support for anxiety, the data also 
suggest that schools are signposting children and young people for behavioural 
problems, as well as mental health problems.  The data suggests that there is a 
need to continue efforts to support school staff to identify the most appropriate 
responses to behavioural or mental health problems.

It is recommended that commissioners should continue to monitor the activity and 
impact of and learning from the Schools Pilot and, where outcomes are positive or 
promising, consider ways to sustain and roll out the approach in Stroud and across 
the county. 

Page 16



3. Our continued engagement 

Our original Transformation Plan was co-produced with children, young people, their 
families and carers, commissioning partners, GPs, providers and key stakeholders.

Since its publication, we have continued to actively engage key partners and young 
people in Gloucestershire to begin to implement our ambitions and develop services. 

3.1 Children and young people 

Working with young people from Stroud Youth Council, Gloucestershire Young 
Carers and the Ambassadors for Vulnerable Children and Young People, our 
engagement activities have included:

 Involvement in grant awards for additional one-to-one counselling support in 
across Gloucestershire.

 Development of a new website for Children & Young People – 
www.onyourmindglos.nhs.uk

 Production of a promotional video to encourage young people to talk about their 
mental health and develop ways to support themselves and their peers. 

 Promotion of the new website and services to young people through Health & 
Wellbeing events, carers events, and other school based activities. 

3.2 Parents and carers

Although our main focus in recent months has been on working with young people, 
we are now beginning to re-engage with local parent groups, with a view to 
increasing access to local information and support for parents and carers. 

3.3 Key stakeholders

We have continued to work with key partners from across the county to develop our 
vision for services.  We have held quarterly engagement events with representatives 
from health, social care, education and the voluntary sector.  Key messages 
continue to focus on: 

 reducing stigma and raising awareness;
 improving early support for children and young people;
 providing additional support for parents and carers; 
 ensuring consistency across the county; 

The key message from all of our stakeholders was: 
Early access to services is essential – more support and services are 
needed for children and young people who currently don’t meet the 
criteria for the Children & Young People Service. 

Page 17

http://www.onyourmindglos.nhs.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PBhx2JceJJI


 developing our local workforce, across all sectors
4. Progress with transforming support for children and young 

people and taking the plan forward 

Our transformation plan takes a whole systems approach that is vital to transforming 
and making significant progress into a growing problem of increasing numbers of 
children with mental health difficulties. The key focus of our plan aims to:

 Address the gaps identified in our needs analysis
 Provide a balance between the need for more early intervention and 

prevention
 Meet the needs of those very vulnerable children and young people who 

achieve poorer outcomes than most of the population.

There are 4 broad themes and layers of support based on our model of coordinated 
and flexible mental health support.

We have been working hard as a partnership across agencies and with children and 
young people to implement our plan over the four layers of support identified in the 
plan. The following sections describe our progress as well as how we intend to take 
things forward. 

4.1 Theme 1: Building resilience, information and advice, & early intervention.
 
Universal Support

4.1.1 ‘On Your Mind’ Website for children and young people. In direct response 
to feedback from young people we have progressed coproducing a website with 

Page 18



young people that can provide information, advice and guidance about self-help, 
access to trusted sources of support and available local services. This website was 
launched in Autumn 2016 and has already had really positive feedback and far 
reaching effects e.g. highlighted in the national ‘Crisis Concordat ‘e’ bulletin. The 
website can be found at: www.onyourmindglos.nhs.uk 

4.1.2 Working to tackle stigma and normalise mental health. Young people have 
developed a film about the plan which has three key messages as follows:

 Gloucestershire is working hard to improve the system of support for 
mental health

 It is ok to talk about mental health and get support when you need it.
 Information and advice is available via the website that has been 

developed.

The film is available to view at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PBhx2JceJJI

4.1.3 Information and advice for parents. Parents and carers have told us that 
they need easy access to advice and support about their children’s mental health. In 
response to this webpages are being developed to support information, advice and 
guidance for parents, including signposting to trusted sources of support. It will 
include how to help your child and where to get local support. The webpages for 
parents and young people will be linked to the CCG website. We are also looking at 
how we can extend information and support for parents and carers in order to 
empower and enable parents to support children and young people, including 
trialling joint drop in sessions with school nursing and mental health workers.

4.1.4 Webpages for practitioners. Webpages are being developed for school 
based staff to be put on the Gloucestershire Healthy Learning and Living website 
and on the CCG Gcare IT platform for GPs. This will provide:-

 Staff with advice about emotional wellbeing issues.
 Good practice examples that can be implemented in schools to improve 

emotional wellbeing. 
 Links to sources of support including a streamlined training matrix and access 

to all other training opportunities available in the county and advice about 
which training may be appropriate to undertake

4.1.5 A Mental Health Champions award has been developed through GHLL which 
will be awarded to schools that recognise that the way they operate and approach 
wellbeing has a huge impact on the emotional health of pupils and staff (and on 
subsequent attainment). During 2017 support to achieve the award will be developed 
to include:

 Good practice examples about whole school approaches to wellbeing and 
how they can be implemented.

 An attachment-based approach to support more vulnerable children and 
young people. 

Page 19

http://www.onyourmindglos.nhs.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PBhx2JceJJI


4.2 Theme 2: Joined up support - schools, communities and GPs linked to 
mental health support. 

Early help including workforce planning, development & training

4.2.1 Mandatory mental health training for staff in schools and in other 
universal or ‘non-mental health-specialist’ services. We believe that mental 
health is ‘everybody’s business’ and as such the workforce who are not ‘specialists’ 
in this area should nevertheless have a consistent level of knowledge and 
competence in mental health. This will make the workforce as a whole better able to 
identify need, provide support, and in turn be more resilient in the process, thereby 
reducing the demand for specialist services. We are now progressing this with a 
stakeholder group representing all agencies.

4.2.2 Online access to counselling support is being piloted through a Voluntary 
and Community Sector organisation and is a response to young people wanting to 
access support in different ways and an approach to providing cost effective 
services. This approach will be evaluated during 2017. Based on the evaluation, a 
decision will then be taken about next steps. 

4.2.3 Schools and Mental Health Pilot funded through DfE/NHSE. This pilot is 
part of a national project and is operating in the Stroud locality with 15 schools 
including one college. The project aims to:

  Join up mental health services and schools to promote early identification of 
need and ensure pupils get the right support. 

 Support schools in further developing awareness and knowledge of good 
mental health and building resilience of staff and pupils

Additional primary mental health workers are available for schools to access 
support on a routine and regular basis. The pilot is being evaluated by an 
independent organisation. The interim findings have been really positive with 
schools valuing the easy access to the specialist advice and support that they are 
getting from mental health workers. The interim evaluation report demonstrates 
the value of this model of support. There have been tangible outcomes, for 
example improvements in children’s mental health and in turn engagement in 
school and learning. In anticipation of a positive final report we will roll out this 
model of earlier intervention to the rest of the county using a phased approach.

4.2.4 Earlier Intervention Counselling. As a result of the needs assessment and 
engagement undertaken in the original plan, the CCG has invested in direct face to 
face counselling. This is available across the county with the intention that this is in 
addition to that which the schools, colleges or other organisations currently provide 
or fund. In the first 6 months, 229 young people received an intervention with an 
average wait time of 3.6 weeks which is in line with anticipated demand. The majority 
of the young people were signposted to the service from GPs. Again the impact of 
this investment is being evaluated. 

4.2.5 Mental health support for children with long term health conditions. This 
has been identified as a gap in local provision, and is vital to prevent long term 
mental health needs and further physical health conditions developing amongst this 

Page 20



group of children and young people, and will now be taken forward as a project in 
2017.

4.2.6 Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT). 
We are committed to continuing to train members of the specialist and wider mental 
health workforce, including practitioners in the Voluntary and Community Sector, in 
evidence based approaches via the Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 
Programme. Positive engagement with the regional educational collaborative has 
supported 21 practitioners in Gloucestershire from a range of organisations to be 
upskilled and trained by completing evidence based nationally recognised CYPS 
IAPT qualifications. There are currently 4 additional staff in training. 

4.2.7 Further workforce development and planning. 
We know that we need to continue to work hard to attract, develop and retain staff 
with the right skills to deliver our ambitious plan. Developing the Children’s Mental 
Health Workforce forms part of Gloucestershire’s Sustainability and Transformation 
plan as a vehicle to take this forward and maximise success. There are already 
some innovative approaches to workforce development and planning in the county 
including the development of the mandatory mental health learning module, the 
mental health champions awards for schools and the schools pilot described above. 
In addition 2gether NHS Foundation Trust CYPS service:

 Have developed a modular programme to increase the skills and knowledge 
of staff working with children and young people with mental health issues. All 
newly qualified staff and those recruited from other disciplines complete this 
course. This enables staff to be recruited from a wider pool.

 Identify budding third year student nurses coming up to qualification and 
initiate recruitment early.

 Operate a clear policy of career progression and development to ensure staff 
remain within the service and enjoy a varied and rewarding career.

 Have successfully piloted new roles including a Health Care Assistant role 
working within Children’s mental health services which is now moving to roll 
out within the service

 Trained staff in evidenced based approaches to supporting children and 
young people with autism

In order to deliver the overall plan, staffing capacity has increased across the county. 
Our plan to 2020 requires over 25 whole time equivalent practitioners in order for us 
to reach our local delivery plan ambitions. The roadmap at the end of this section 
shows our ballpark trajectory for increasing activity and staffing levels through to 
2020. We will utilise the strategies above to continue to recruit and retain staff 
alongside developments in the Health Education England Mental Health Workforce 
plan. 

Page 21



4.3 Theme 3: Pathways: access / waiting times / transition. 

Getting Help

4.3.1 Access and Waiting times. We had already set challenging local access and 
waiting times for our children and young people specialist mental health services 
prior to developing our local Plan in 2015. However, we acknowledged in our original 
plan that these waiting times had not been consistently met. With additional 
investment we have now met these waiting times. NHS England have recently 
provided further investment going forward into 2017 to continue to reduce waiting 
times for specialist services.

4.3.2 Parenting Programmes. A recent report from the Mental Health Foundation, 
contributing to the NHS Five Year Forward View for Mental Health, re-emphasised 
the importance of parenting programmes in protecting mental health in early 
years. A rapid review of parenting programmes in Gloucestershire has recently 
taken place looking at what is currently being delivered in county and the current 
evidence base. Options for taking this forward are currently under discussion.

4.3.3 Eating Disorders. Over the coming year we will work to ensure that there is an 
effective pathway in place so that all multiagency professionals including Primary 
Care, the Acute Trust and the eating disorder service work effectively to manage co-
morbid physical health issues as well as the eating disorder. The eating disorder 
service will also be joining a quality network. 

4.3.4 Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP). Gloucestershire operates a fully NICE 
compliant service for young people who develop psychosis for the first time. This 
includes a clear pathway and joint working including shared teams roles between the 
CYPS service and EIP to ensure young people receive joined up care and support

4.3.5 Transition. Work has been ongoing via a CQUIN to improve the experience 
and journey of young people into adult mental health services or onward care into 
the community. 2gether NHS Foundation Trust are working with young people and 
adult services to look at how adult services can be adapted to better meet the needs 
and expectations of young people. We will be working to implement the National 
Institute for Clinical Care and Excellence transition quality standard. This work will 
continue until March 2017 when a final report with improvements and scoping out 
options for a 0-25 year old service will be produced. 

4.4 Theme 4: Vulnerable CYP with complex needs / intensive interventions.

Getting help and Help & support in a crisis.

4.4.1 Young People in crisis. The CCG and county council (GCC) have been 
working to look at more effective models of joint working including developing 
collaborative plans with NHS England Specialised commissioning (NHSE 
SpecComm) to support alternative options to the use of mental health in-patient 
beds. This is to support young people who are often known to multiple agencies 
including health and social care and who are experiencing a social and/or 
psychological crisis. We know that these young people are at greater risk of 

Page 22



engaging in offending activity, be subject to forms of exploitation and/or be less likely 
to be engaged in education and have stable employment prospects and training. 
These young people often have complex needs and present a challenge in terms of 
practitioners providing a joined up response, and may often result in them being in 
placements out of county.

Our proposed response is to provide more local and bespoke support based on the 
development of a combined health and social care Intensive Intervention Service. 
This is based on feedback from young people, the needs described and best 
practice, and aims to support young people based on successful models of practice 
elsewhere in the country. This is now being taken forward as a business case within 
the CCG and GCC, and as a potential joint development including NHSE 
SpecComm.

Integral to this Gloucestershire has also been successful in gaining Capital funding 
to develop a place of safety and place of calm. This will be integrated within the 
Intensive Intervention Service.

Complementary to the above work we have been developing our community Mental 
Health Acute Response Service (formerly known as the crisis service) and 
Gloucestershire Hospital based Psychiatric Liaison service to begin to work with 
younger people. This area of work has not progressed as quickly as we might have 
liked due to some workforce challenges. However, we are confident that this will 
progress over the coming year.

4.4.2 Children who suffer from sexual abuse and /or exploitation. We are 
working collaboratively with our partners including the Sexual Assault Referral 
Centre Board and NHS England Health and Justice Commissioner to work together 
to address gaps in the system which include victims of sexual abuse and /or 
exploitation. During 2017 we will work to ensure effective pathways of support are in 
place including developing pathways with NHS England for the commissioning of 
mental health support for children and young people relating to the Sexual Assault 
Referral Centre, ensuring that current gaps in support are filled.

4.4.3 Children and Young People on the edge of or coming into care. We will 
continue to work on developing a more comprehensive pathway of support for 
children on the edge of or coming into care including the younger age group who 
may have suffered trauma, neglect and abuse. This is to help to ameliorate later 
mental health crises developing. During 2017 we will bring together all sources of 
support and look at ensuring a more joined up approach to mental health and 
wellbeing provision is in place going forward. This includes addressing capacity as 
the number of children in care rises (as indicated in the updated needs assessment).

We will also look at adapting to changing needs eg the rise in unaccompanied 
asylum seekers. We are actively working with ²gether NHS Foundation Trust and the 
voluntary and community sector to address the needs of asylum seekers and 
refugees through developing expertise and piloting new ways of meeting needs and 
will seek to ensure that a formal pathway is in place during 2017 with associated 
investment. 

Page 23



Gloucestershire is an early adopter site for NHS England Integrated Personal 
Commissioning programme to roll out integrated personal budgets from 2016/17 – 
2018/19 to deliver personal budgets for children in care. The aim of this project is to 
test the use of personal budgets for children in care and young people with mental 
health and well-being needs with a view to these being scaled up across the sector. 
The introduction of personal budgets could generate a more flexible, integrated 
system, in which children and their families and carers are encouraged and 
supported to be involved in developing and delivering their own care plans. Future in 
Mind highlighted how children in care faced particular challenges in obtaining 
support at the right time. Personal budgets for looked-after children may provide an 
effective way to improve their access to appropriate support and outcomes. Initial 
feedback from young people and practitioners is that children and young people 
aged 15-18 thinking about transition from care and children and young people with 
raised ‘Strengths and Difficulties’ scores could benefit the most from this approach.

4.4.4 Young People at risk of contact with the criminal justice system. We are 
also working with NHS England Health and Justice commissioning to improve the 
support for young people at risk of entering the criminal justice system. We are 
investing to enhance the current arrangements by providing specific and targeted 
capacity to provide more integrated multi-agency assessment, consultation, 
formulation and therapeutic interventions. We will also look to provide services at 
times of the day which are more acceptable and accessible to young people, 
particularly this group who find it harder to engage with services. This additional 
investment should ensure improved outcomes for young people in terms of mental 
wellbeing, family functioning and diversion from statutory youth justice.
 
4.4.5 Perinatal and Infant Mental Health
Gloucestershire has been working on making improvements to Perinatal and infant 
mental health services for some time via quality initiatives within 2gether, working 
across the network including with maternity, health visiting, children centre services 
and the voluntary and community sector. Gloucestershire has been successful in an 
NHS England bid to set up and deliver a specialist community perinatal and infant 
mental health team for women with complex mental health disorders. This includes 
meeting the needs of infants. We will look closely at the role/function of the infant 
mental health team and the capacity to support the parent infant relationship for 
women with mental health needs and women with other risk factors.

The overview of our key activities and increased activity is in our roadmap on the 
following page.

Page 24



`

P
age 25



5. Next steps

We will continue to track our progress through the outcomes and key performance 
framework and our action plan, a summary of which can be found in Appendices 2 
and 3.

We have a robust governance process in place described in our original plan which 
will continue to ensure that we deliver transformation for our children, young people 
and families.

We have a track record of strong engagement and participation with young people 
from a range of backgrounds about their emotional health and wellbeing. We will 
continue this into the implementation phase of the plan.

Page 26



Appendix 1

Future in Mind: Gloucestershire’s Children & Young People’s Mental Health & 
Wellbeing Transformation Plan

UPDATE TO THE NEEDS ASSESSMENT, NOVEMBER 2016

In August 2015, a children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing needs 
assessment was produced to inform the development of Gloucestershire’s Future in 
Mind transformation plan. As part of the 2016 update to the transformation plan, its 
authors have requested updates to certain sections of the needs assessment. This is 
not a full update but addresses those particular areas of interest.

1. ‘Higher risk’ groups

The 2015 needs assessment identified a number of groups of children and young 
people who are at a higher risk of developing poor mental health because of 
particular characteristics or circumstances.

1.1 Accompanied and unaccompanied asylum seeking children
The 2015 needs assessment recommended that the mental health needs arising 
from a potential increase in numbers of asylum seekers arriving in the UK should be 
monitored during the lifetime of the transformation plan and action taken where 
required. Since then, there has been a rise across Europe in the numbers of 
refugees and asylum seekers, including unaccompanied asylum seeking children 
(UASC), fleeing countries such as Syria.

The latest data from official returns suggests that the impact of this rise has not yet 
been felt in Gloucestershire, with the trend continuing to decline in 2015 and 2016 
(where the numbers of UASC has been supressed because of the low count) (Figure 
1). 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
0

10

20

30

40

50

Number of unaccompanied asylum seeking 
children in Gloucestershire

Year

N
um

be
r 

(r
ou

nd
ed

)

Page 27



Figure 1 Number of unaccompanied asylum seeking children looked after in Gloucestershire (Source: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2015-to-
2016)

However, these data record a snapshot at the end of March and anecdotal evidence 
from services suggests numbers have begun to increase, although not dramatically, 
in the months since March 2016. At the time of writing, it is expected that a further 
70-80 UASC will be arriving in Gloucestershire, although the timing for their arrival is 
unknown.  

Official data returns only capture those children and young people for whom the 
County Council has responsibility (i.e. UASC) and not those who are resettling with 
their family in the county. The UK Government has announced that it will accept and 
resettle 20,000 refugees over the course of this current parliament (up to 2020). All 
six district councils in Gloucestershire have committed to housing families as part of 
this commitment and are working with Gloucestershire Action for Refugees and 
Asylum Seekers (GARAS) and others to support these families as they arrive and 
settle.

Recommendation 1: Commissioners of children and young people’s mental health 
services should continue to work with children’s social care colleagues to remain up 
to date with potential increases in UASC arriving in Gloucestershire and to ensure 
these children, where they need it, can access appropriate mental health support. 

Recommendation 2: Commissioners of children and young people’s mental health 
services should continue to liaise with partners to establish any additional mental 
health needs in children who have resettled with their families and support referrals 
to appropriate services, where needed.

1.2 Children subject to social care assessments

The 2015 needs assessment identified a number of family factors that placed 
children and young people at a higher risk of developing poor mental health. These 
included parental mental illness and substance misuse. Figure 2 shows that both of 
these issues continue to regularly appear as factors in children’s social assessments 
during 2015/16. However, Figure 2 also shows that domestic violence is a key factor 
in assessments, which also places children at a higher risk of developing poor mental 
health. (N.B. In this graph, an “episode” refers to a referral to children’s social care 
that has resulted in an assessment. More than one factor can be identified in each 
assessment).

Page 28



Figure 2 Factors identified in children’s social care assessments in Gloucestershire, 2015/16 (Source: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-children-in-need)

The 2015 needs assessment also specifically identified victims of child sexual 
exploitation (CSE) and sexual abuse as being at risk of developing poor mental 
health. It continues to be difficult to establish data on the numbers of children 
experiencing CSE or sexual abuse because of potential underreporting and the way 
in which data is collected. However, Figure 2 shows that CSE featured as a factor in 
289 episodes during 2015/16 and sexual abuse as a factor in 230 episodes in 
2015/16. The 2015 needs assessment recommended that the provision of evidence-
based trauma recovery support be considered for, amongst others, children who 
have been a victim of CSE or sexual abuse. This remains a relevant 
recommendation.

Recommendation 3: Commissioners should continue to work with adult services for 
mental health, domestic violence and substance misuse and ensure that the impact 
of these issues on children living in affected families is taken in to account in service 
design and delivery.

Recommendation 4: The provision of evidence-based trauma recovery support 
should be considered for, amongst others, children who have been a victim of CSE 
or sexual abuse.

1.3 Children in care

Although the number of children in care in Gloucestershire remained under 500 until 
2013, there has been a steady increase, with 639 children in care registered in 
August 2016 (Figure 3).

Page 29



Figure 3 Number of Children in Care in Gloucestershire, 2006-2016

A report to the Children & Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee in September 
20161 identified that the reasons for this increase include:

 An increase in vulnerable young people presenting as homeless
 Unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC)
 Historical neglect cases – coming into care
 An increase in number of young adolescent girls at risk of sexual exploitation.

As identified in the 2015 needs assessment, there is evidence that being in care can 
place a child at higher risk of developing poor mental health because of the factors 
leading to them coming into care and, importantly, experiences of trauma such as 
those outlined above.

The 2015 needs assessment also identified a potentially improving trend in the 
average Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) score, which measure the 
emotional wellbeing of children in care in Gloucestershire2. However, the latest 
available data (Figure 4) shows that this trend has begun to worsen again, with the 
average score in Gloucestershire in 2014/15 being classified as ‘borderline cause for 
concern’. (N.B. A lower SDQ score is better.) 

1 http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=670&MId=8142&Ver=4 
2 For an explanation of SDQ scores, please see Section 4.1 of the original 2015 needs assessment

Page 30

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=670&MId=8142&Ver=4


Figure 4 Average SDQ score in Gloucestershire, 2010/11 to 2014/15 (Source: 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-
health/profile/CYPMH/data#page/4/gid/1938132755/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/102/are/E10000013/iid/20801/ag
e/246/sex/4)

Recommendation 5: Given the increase in the number of children in care in 
Gloucestershire and the slight increase in SDQ scores, further consideration should 
be given to meeting the mental health needs of this cohort, and any particular needs 
that arise from issues such as neglect and sexual exploitation.

2. Young people’s mental health needs

There has been no update to national prevalence data since the 2015 needs 
assessment, which used data from a 2004 Office for National Statistics (ONS) 
survey. However, the delivery of certain elements of the transformation plan, such as 
the Schools Pilot, and a more recent Online Pupil Survey (OPS) has added to our 
understanding of the mental health needs of young people in Gloucestershire.

2.1 Gloucestershire Online Pupil Survey

The biannual Online Pupil Survey (OPS) took place in 2016, with a sample size of 
29,516 children and young people at school years 4, 5, 6, 8, 10 and 12.

At the time of writing this update, the findings are relatively new. However, there are 
some key messages from the headline findings that are particularly relevant to this 
update:
 Fewer primary and secondary school pupils reported that they have been bullied 

and more primary and secondary school pupils reported that their school is 
dealing with bullying than in previous years. Cyber bullying remains the least 
common form of reported bullying.

 More primary school pupils reported that they are happy and confident about the 
future than secondary school pupils. 

 However, there has been a small increase in primary school pupils reporting that 
they worry about school compared with previous years and an increase in primary 
school pupils reporting that they feel stressed by school work compared with 
previous years.

Page 31



 Fewer secondary school pupils reported that they feel happy and are confident 
about the future than in previous years. 

 More older pupils reported that they feel stressed by school work than younger 
pupils, with the increase appearing much sharper amongst girls (Figure 5). The 
same trend appears in pupils reporting that they are stressed (i.e. waking up 
weekly or most nights).

Figure 5 Reported feelings of stress caused by school work, by year group and gender (Source: 
Gloucestershire Online Pupil Survey, 2016)

 Amongst year 10 pupils, more girls reported that they are unhappy (24%) than 
boys (12%). 

 15% of pupils reported that they had self-harmed either once or twice, monthly or 
weekly/daily. This is slightly lower than the percentage of pupils that reported this 
in the last survey (17%) and continues to be in line with national research.

Recommendation 6: Work to build resilience in children and young people should 
continue, e.g. through the work of Gloucestershire Healthy Living & Learning (GHLL) 
and should take account of the findings of the OPS. For example, consideration 
should be given to the needs of older girls and to pressures created by school work 
beyond Year 8.

2.2 Schools Pilot
Since January 2016, 15 schools and colleges in the Stroud area have been taking 
part in a pilot project to provide training and encourage subsequent joint working to 
improve local knowledge and identification of mental health issues for children and 
young people and improve referrals to specialist services. The pilot includes primary 
and secondary schools, a further education college, a special school and alternative 
provision. 

During the first pilot reporting period (January-June 2016), Primary Mental Health 
Workers (PMHWs) made 246 school/college visits, which resulted in 419 individual 

Page 32



consultations and 43 group work sessions being provided. Where individual 
consultations were not closed, the most common outcomes were group work (82), 
further work by the school (75) and signposting (53). The vast majority of children 
who were signposted were signposted to TIC+ counselling services.

Figure 6 shows that the vast majority of issues identified by consultations related to 
anxiety and phobias (40%), with behaviour and anger making up 25% of the issues 
identified. It should be noted that Figure 6 shows the primary presenting problem 
only. For example, a young person may present with anxiety, which is captured, but 
may also be resorting to self-harm as a maladaptive coping mechanism, which is not 
captured.

Figure 6 Top 10 key issues for the child or young person discussed during consultation during the Stroud 
Schools Pilot (as of November 2016) (Source: CYPS Performance & Outcome Report - Q4 2015/16 & Q1 
2016/17)

As well as identifying considerable need for support for anxiety, these data also 
suggest that schools are signposting children and young people for behavioural 
problems, as well as mental health problems. 2gether suggests that, during this pilot, 
schools may have sometimes prioritised behavioural concerns over those children 
and young people that may have emerging mental health needs and that there is a 
need to continue efforts to support school staff to identify the most appropriate 
responses to behavioural or mental health problems.

Recommendation 7: Commissioners should continue to monitor the activity and 
impact of and learning from the Schools Pilot and, where outcomes are positive or 
promising, consider ways to sustain and roll out the approach in Stroud and across 
the county. 

Recommendation 8: Findings from the pilot should be considered alongside data 
from the OPS to continue to develop appropriate support for children and young 
people, including those experiencing anxiety and ‘sub-clinical’ mental health needs. 

Page 33



3. Young people’s mental health services

The 2015 needs assessment considered service data across all parts of 2gether 
NHS Foundation Trust’s Children & Young People’s Service (CYPS) and other 
service providers. This update does not consider all service areas but provides an 
update on infant mental health services, as the 2015 needs assessment identified a 
need for further work to understand whether this is meeting the needs of children 
under the age of 5. This is particularly important given the impact identified in the 
2015 needs assessment of parental mental health on younger children and of early 
life experiences on a child’s mental wellbeing as they grow older.

3.1 Infant Mental Health

The 2015 needs assessment identified a trend of a slightly increasing caseload in the 
infant mental health team up to March 2015, although the caseload was beginning to 
reduce towards the end of the period. Figure 7 shows that the caseload has 
continued to reduce during 2015/16 and is now at around half the size as it was in 
April 20133. 

Figure 7 Infant Mental Health Team Caseload, April 2013 to March 2016 (Source: 2gether Community 
Activity for CYPS and Eating Disorder - Adolescents in Gloucestershire)

The caseload data are mirrored by data on accepted referrals into the service and 
community discharges from the service between 2013/14 and 2015/16. Figure 8 
shows that accepted referrals into the team have decreased slightly, whilst there has 
been a steady increase in community discharges from the team.

3 Note: the methodology used in this update is slightly different to the 2015 needs assessment. Therefore, the 
precise figures differ slightly, although the general trends remain the same.

Page 34



Figure 8 Accepted referrals into and community discharges from the Infant Mental Health Team, 2013/14 
to 2015/16 (Source: 2gether Community Activity for CYPS and Eating Disorder - Adolescents in 
Gloucestershire)

Although this suggests that the reduced caseload is due to fewer accepted referrals 
and increased community discharges, these data do not explain the reasons behind 
this, e.g. whether there is lower demand for the service; a different threshold for 
accepting referrals; a backlog of cases that are now being discharged; or other 
reasons. 

Further, the 2015 needs assessment noted that this service is currently 
commissioned to support children up to the age of two. However, stakeholders had 
identified a gap in support for children up to the age of five and the needs 
assessment recommended that further work was done to explore opportunities for 
this support to be provided. This recommendation is still relevant and may be 
particularly relevant in the light of reducing caseloads.

Recommendation 9: Commissioners should work with 2gether to understand the 
reasons for the Infant Mental Health Team’s reduced caseload and, if this is 
something that is of concern, address this. The 2015 recommendation to undertake 
further work to understand the opportunity for specialist support to be provided for 
children up to the age of five should also be considered.

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



GLOUCESTERSHIRE OUTCOMES AND KPI

Outcome Main KPI 2014-15 KPI baseline 2015-16 Actual KPI target KPI 

Monitoring

Source of KPI

Numbers of crisis assessments undertaken by the crisis team on CYP 

age 12-15, 16-17

New Measure for 2017/18 New Measure for 2017/18 Annually New for Transformation Plan

%  of CYP that received support within 24 hours of referral, for crisis 

home treatment

96% 97% 95% of CYP receive support within 24 hours of referral 

for crisis home treatment

Annually 2gft Performance Dashboard 

Outturn Report

Reduction in number of children and young people 0-17 years detained 

under s.136

19 detentions 19 detentions A Reduction in numbers of CYP 0-17 Years detained 

under s.136

Annually 2gft Information Team

The number of presentations for self-harm at Gloucestershire Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust A&E by CYP age 12-17

233 presentations 230 presentations A reduction in the number of presentations Annually GHNHSFT Contract Monitoring

 Number of admissions to Paediatric Admissions Unit for self-harm of 

children and young people 12-15 years

170 admissions 129 admissions A reduction in the number of presentations Annually GHNHSFT Contract Monitoring

Reduction in number of children and young people reporting self-harm 

and weekly/daily self-harm

189 (3.6%) of CYP reported daily or weekly 

self-harm

3.4% of CYP reported daily or weekly self-

harm

<3.6% of CYP reported daily or weekly self-harm Every 2 years Gloucestershire On-line Pupil 

Survey

No CYP age 0-17 in mental health crisis are held in police cells 1 young person 3 young people 0 young people- Soon to be against the law as of 2017 Annually 2gft Contract Monitoring

No CYP under 18 admitted to adult in-patient wards 9 young people 11 young people 0 young people Annually 2gft Performance Dashboard 

Outturn Report 

Number of CYP in crisis age 0-17 who can't or won't go home accessing 

safe place options

New Measure for 2018/19 New Measure for 2018/19 New Measure for 2018/19 Annually New for Transformation Plan

Monitor the number and % of referrals accepted by CYPS, ED and other 

commissioned services

CYPS Primary MH Worker: 59%

Specilaist CYPS : 92%

Eating Disorder: 95%

BER: 100%

TiC+: 100%

CYPS Primary MH Worker 59%              

Specilaist CYPS : 97%                              

Eating Disorder: 99%                                  

BER: 100%                                                   

TiC+: 100%                                                                          

Annually 2gft Contract Monitoring

Other services - New for 

Transformation Plan

% of CYP reporting improved outcomes following treatment from TIC+ New Measure for 2016/17 New Measure for 2016/17 50% of CYP report improved outcome scores post 

partnership/treatment/intervention

Annually Via TIC+

% of CYP entering partnership in CYPS have pre and post treatment 

outcomes measures recorded

New Measure for 2016/17 New Measure for 2016/17 60% of CYP have outcomes measures recorded Annually 2gft Contract Monitoring

Monitor waiting times from referral to assessment and/or treatment in 

CYPS and ED services

CYPS: Referral to treatment 72% in 10 

weeks

Referral to treatment 75% in 10 weeks      CYPS - Referral to treatment 95% within 10 weeks

Eating Disorder: 95% referral to treatment within 5 

working days (urgent) and 4 weeks (routine)

Quarterly CYPS: 2gft Performance 

Dashboard Outturn report

Monitor protective characteristics to evidence equity of access to 

services for vulnerable or hard to reach CYP

New Measure for 2016/17 New Measure for 2016/17 Annually New for Transformation Plan

Monitor CYP experience of services New Measure for 2017/18 New Measure for 2017/18 75% of CYP report being satisfied or more than satisfied 

with service experience

Annually 2gft Contract Monitoring

others: New for Transformation 

Plan
Young people in transition to adult specialist mental health services have 

a good experience

New Measure for 2016/17 New Measure for 2016/17 75% of CYP report being satisfied or more than satisfied 

with service experience

Annually 2gft Contract Monitoring

Numbers of CYP with long-term conditions accessing psychological 

support

New Measure for 2017/18 New Measure for 2017/18 Annually New for Transformation Plan

Monitor average SDQ scores of children who have been in care for at 

least 12 months

14.5 14.7 Annually Public Health Outcomes 

Framework

Monitor the numbers of CYP and families accessing services that do not 

require an appointment (a) Self-harm helpline (b) 'live chat' counselling

(a) Self-harm helpline: 147 contacts

(b) Tic+: New Measure for 2016/17

(a)Self-harm helpline:143 Contacts                  

(b)Tic+: New Measure for 2016/17

Maintain or Improve Annually New for Transformation Plan

Number of CYP accessing the  'On your mind' website New Measure for 2016/17 New Measure for 2016/17 Annually CCG

Uptake of IAPT training across the universal workforce and community 

groups (KPI will  track coverage across districts and different workforce 

and community groups to monitor wide coverage and identify gaps)

New Measure for 2016/17 New Measure for 2016/17 2 People Trained Annually New for Transformation Plan

Numbers of staff in the universal workforce accessing mandatory Mental 

Health E-learning                                                                                                            

New Measure for 2017/18 New Measure for 2017/18 Uptake >75% Annually New for Transformation Plan

Numbers of staff in the universal workforce report feeling more confident 

in supporting YP with Poor MH following Mental Health E-learning 

New Measure for 2017/18 New Measure for 2017/18 Annually New for Transformation Plan

Every school has a named Primary Mental Health Worker/Access to 

Wellbeing Team

New Measure for 2017/18 New Measure for 2017/18 Annually New for Transformation Plan

% of schools who are accredited with GHLL 0 schools (launched 2015/16 academic 

year)

91 Schools submitted interventions with 

award Approved

Maintain and Increase Uptake Annually GHLL

% schools with Mental Health Champions Award New Measure for 2017/18 New Measure for 2017/18 Annually GHLL

Of the children and young people reporting weekly/daily self-harm more 

are telling someone, are getting help and are saying that help is useful

170 pupils report currently daily/weekly self-

harm- 61 pupils report daily/weekly self 

harming in the past 

83%  told someone

70% reported getting help

43% reported that help was useful

335 pupils report currently daily/weekly self-

harm - 127 pupils report daily/weekly self 

harming in the past

83%  told someone

73% reported getting help

44% reported that help was useful

Every 2 years Gloucestershire On-line Pupil 

Survey (Social Norm 

Questionnaire)

Children, young people and families are able to 

talk safely and openly about mental health and 

emotional wellbeing issues

Reduction in stigma in schools New Measure for 2017/18 New Measure for 2017/18 Annually Gloucestershire On-line Pupil 

Survey

Children and young people feel more resilient 

in coping with their mental health and emotional 

wellbeing issues

More young people report postive factors in relation to their emotional 

health and well-being (eg happiness, confidence, less bullying, 

satisfaction, someone to turn to)

Online Pupil Survey - secondary

17% unhappy

87% confident for the future

93% not regularly being bullied

74% satisfied with life

Online Pupil Survey - secondary

15% unhappy

82% confident for the future

93% not regularly being bullied

73% satisfied with life                            

Maintain or Improve Every 2 years Gloucestershire On-line Pupil 

Survey (Social Norm 

Questionnaire)

Schools use whole school approaches to 

promote and maintain an environment that 

supports emotional health and wellbeing of the 

whole school community including staff

Children and young people feel more resilient 

in coping with their mental health and emotional 

wellbeing issues

Children, young people and families get the 

help they need, when they need it

Children, young people and families seek 

advice, information and help for mental health 

and emotional wellbeing issues 

The overall aim of these KPIs is to monitor how well we are doing in improving outcomes for children and young people as we implement our Action Plan. The main outcomes are for more young people to report positively about their emotional health and wellbeing and experience less mental ill health and crisis. We 

therefore need to monitor that there are:

• Less young people experiencing mental health crisis

• More young people reporting  their mental health support has been effective and timely

• The workforce and community are well placed to support young people emotional health and wellbeing

Whilst we are “turning the curve” it is important to note whilst developing our key performance indicators that some mental health provision will see an increase in the number of young people requiring the mental health support. Therefore we will need to carefully construct and monitor KPIs in order to assess positive 

outcomes. 

Children and young people are safe in a crisis

Workforce and communities are confident in 

recognising and meeting children and young 

people's emotional health and wellbeing needs

Children and young people have a good 

experience with service provision

Children, young people and families get the 

help they need, when they need it

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3

Gloucestershire's Future in Mind Summary Action Plan as at December 2016
Project 
No
(from 
origina
l plan)

Theme 1: 
Building 
resilience, 
information and 
advice, early  & 
Intervention

Action Outcomes Progress as at: 
December  2016
GREEN = on track
AMBER = progress made but some delay
RED = behind schedule / not yet started

1.09 Provide easier access and coherent advice for young people, 
parents and practitioners

 Develop young people’s website for information and advice.
 Develop webpages for parents and carers. 
 Develop webpages for practitioners offering information and 

advice.

Young people and their families are able to help 
themselves to improve their mental health and 
wellbeing.
 
Practitioners are better able to support CYP

 Young people’s website complete and 
parents/practitioner pages in development

1.14
1.16

Tackle stigma and improve resilience through whole school 
approaches

 Campaign to ensure fewer people will experience stigma and 
discrimination including film about the transformation 
programme for young people

 Implement schools and other settings ‘Mental Health 
Champions’ ‘models of good practice’ for CYP ensuring whole 
school approaches including attachment friendly schools

Young people are able to ask for help when they 
need it without fearing discrimination.

Schools provide education and support to build 
confident, resilient young people

 ‘Elephant in the room’ and skill zone  project 
completed in support of reducing stigma– further work 
in development.

 Film completed by young people about the 
transformation plan.

 Mental Health Champions award for schools launched 
in November 2016. Further work with practical 
implementation to be added to standards.

1.08
1.11
1.15
1.17

Broaden the gateway into services via increased capacity for early 
intervention and alternative models of working

 Pilot of on line drop in and bookable counselling sessions 
including an evaluation

 VCSE grant programme for the provision of face to face 
counselling across the county

  Offer consistent evidence based parenting programmes as part 
of a more coherent offer and on a more targeted basis

 Target training for the more vulnerable young people eg Body 
Programme 

 Explore one stop shop approaches

Increased choice and capacity 

Easy access to a range of emotional support to 
prevent the escalation of mental health difficulties.  

 Online pilot launched in July
 VCSE grant programme currently in progress and to 

be extended until March 2018
 Review of parenting programmes in progress
 Body Programme will be piloted in four schools during 

2017.
 One stop shop being supported in Gloucester City- 

average age of attendees 22 years old. Discussions 
with adult commissioners ongoing for future 
development of IAPT services.

Early 
help and 
support

1.01
1.27

Expand support for emerging needs in the community via the 
schools pilot 

 Improve links between mental health services, school and 
locality services via the schools pilot. Look at how mental health 
services can be accessed in a flexible way to support young 
people and evaluate this model as a way of working as a 
blueprint for the county. This will include developing  a core offer 
to schools of what will be available to them about children and 
young people's mental health, informed by the Schools Pilot 

Earlier intervention and support preventing 
escalation of mental health problems 

Schools provide education and support to build 
confident, resilient young people

 Schools pilot underway with evaluation in progress. 
 School nursing extended sessions in pilot format
 Streamlined training offer agreed.
 Pilot of information and advice sessions for parents in 

localities underway provided by mental health workers 
and school nurses.

P
age 39



Appendix 3

Project
 Streamline training offer for schools at no cost or low cost via 

the schools pilot
 Pilot extended school nursing drop in sessions and information 

sessions for parents with mental health workers
1.19 Improve locality working to facilitate the right help and support for 

children and young people.
 Pilot multi-agency case meetings to discuss children with physical 

needs and/or mental health needs in localities and providing a 
joined up response  

Children and young people are seen by the right 
person in the right place and their care is co-
ordinated

 Discontinued as adding additional work into the system. 
Exploring alternative avenues.

Theme 2: 
Workforce 
development & 
training

Action Outcomes Progress as at: 
December 2016

Building 
the 
workfor
ce

1.06
1.07
1.10

Establish that mental health is ‘everybody’s business’ and help 
ensure that the workforce is skilled in providing evidenced based 
interventions.

 Implement a plan for mandatory mental health training for the 
universal workforce eg schools, nursing staff, doctors

 Develop and implement a joint agency workforce plan to build 
capacity and capability through increased training in, and 
implementation of, ‘Improving Access to Psychological Therapies’ 
Programme (IAPT). (This forms part of the NHSE Assurance 
Framework)
. 

A skilled and more resilient workforce that is able 
to support children and young people in the 
community.

Children and young people with mental health 
issues have access to evidence based 
interventions.

 E learning mental health training group set up and 
package in development.

 Workforce development plan being scoped.

Theme 3: 
Pathways: 
access / waiting 
times / 
transition

Action Outcomes Progress as at: 
December 2016

Getting 
help

1.02
1.03
1.04
1.18
1.20
1.22
1.24
1.28
1.32

Improve pathways of care for young people.
 Improve transition of young people to adult services including 

children and young people's experience.
 Improve access and waiting times for focussed and more extensive 

evidence based treatments
 Develop a pathways so that primary care, acute paediatric services, 

eating disorder services and general mental health services are 
clear about roles and responsibilities

 Explore developing experts by experience programme eg with the 
Eating Disorders Service.

 Introduce the Healthy Minds programme to enable parents and 
professionals to support children with autism who may be 
susceptible mental health issues.

 Introduce self-management programme for, and implement direct 
interventions, to improve the mental health of young people with 
long term conditions.

 Implement a 0-25 year old service to reflect work with family 
systems, links with SEND, social, developmental circumstances 

Children and young people get the help they 
need, when they need it 

Better joint working across specialities for young 
people with an eating disorder and co-morbid 
mental health condition

Better understanding of all partners in the 
contribution they make to the Eating Disorder 
Pathway

Children and young people understand their 
condition, are better able to participate in 
treatment and have improved emotional wellbeing

 Quality improvement plan for transition in progress.
 Waiting times have now come within set times of 80% 

referral to treatment within 8 weeks and 95% within 10 
weeks. Further investment planned to keep momentum.

 Eating disorder pathway commencing in January 2017.
 The ‘experts by experience’ programme has not been 

taken forward. 
 Staff have been trained in delivering this course and will 

be running the first courses for parents in spring 2017.
 Ready Steady, Go programme being rolled out across 

Gloucestershire Hospitals Foundation Trust and 
Gloucestershire Care Services for young people with long 
term physical conditions.

 Long term health conditions project now in progress.
 0-25 year old service being scoped as part of the 

transition CQUIN

P
age 40



Appendix 3

using a phased approach and by reconfiguring existing services.
Theme 4: CYP 
with complex 
needs / 
intensive 
interventions

Action Outcomes Progress as at: 
December 2016

Getting 
help

1.05
1.12
1.13
1.21
1.23
1.29
1.30

Provide more joined up support for vulnerable children and young 
people who have suffered neglect and abuse.
 Further develop a model to support vulnerable adolescent’s mental 

health supported by greater integration of working between social 
care, youth support and mental health services alongside NHS 
England Health and Justice. 

 Ensure a more joined up pathway of mental health support for 
vulnerable children on the edge of care or in care including  greater 
capacity for evidence based therapeutic family approaches

 Identify and address the mental health needs of parents especially 
of vulnerable children and young people, including integrating infant 
and adult mental health 

 Improve support for young people following trauma and abuse 
including pathways for Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC).

Families in crisis remain a functional family unit.

A more coordinated response to meet the mental 
health needs of vulnerable adolescents, 
improving their emotional health and wellbeing.

Young people are able to access the help they 
need in times of crisis.

 Agreed investment via NHS England Health and Justice 
to support further capacity for young people at risk of 
coming into contact with the criminal justice pathway.

 Work on pathways for vulnerable children in progress 
including a workable model of care to provide greater 
integration and family based approaches.

 Mental Health Liaison pilot now in operation following 
delay in recruitment and set up.

 Establishing infant mental health pathway.
 SARC work will commence in 2017 with a new pathway 

in place during the autumn of 2017.

Mental 
Health 
Support 
in a 
Crisis

1.20
1.25
1.29
1.31

Provide community based joined up support for young people in a 
crisis
 Implement reduced age for access to MH crisis service, and ensure 

consistently easy access to timely family oriented assessment in the 
community from crisis team

 Provide intensive and joined up support for vulnerable children and 
young people and families including safe places in a crisis and 
alternatives to inpatient care.

 Ensure pathways of support for those young people who self-harm 
through diversion schemes - learning from the ‘Building Emotional 
Resilience’  pilot

 Implement reduced age for Mental Health Liaison Team at 
Gloucestershire Royal Hospital 

Timely access to a range of appropriate 
accommodation and safe places/places of safety 
including Foster Care, VCS, Section 136, 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
(when there are medical needs) for those young 
people who 'can't / won't go home' for whatever 
reason. More children and young people with 
mental health needs cared for in the community.

Young people are supported as close to home as 
possible.
 
Reduced number of young people attending GRH 
(A&E and admitted to the paediatric ward) with 
repeat episodes of self-harming  

 Proposals being discussed and business cases being 
developed between GCC, 2gft and NHSE to provide 
intensive support.

 Investing in mental health pilot of working jointly with 
social care to support young people in a crisis.

 Building Emotional Resilience Pilot has been evaluated 
and will be built into CYPS and Teens in Crisis 
arrangements.

 Proposals being developed to provide an all age Mental 
Health Liaison team at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital.

Mental 
Health 
Help & 
Support

1.26 Improved support for children and young people with a learning 
disability
 Increase capacity to respond to children and young people with a 

learning disability.

Families are supported to provide an environment 
in which their young people can thrive and are 
less likely to suffer with mental health problems

 This project is now being scoped.

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Gloucestershire’s Better Care Fund – Housing and Health

Item for 
decision or 
information?

For information

Sponsor Margaret Willcox, Mary Hutton, Kim Forey

Author Mary Morgan, Lead Commissioner for Older People, Health 

and Social Care

Organisation NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

(GCCG)/Gloucestershire County Council (GCC)

Key Issues:  

The purpose of this paper is to provide an update on progress within the 

Better Care Fund (BCF) in relation to housing and health outcomes. The 

paper includes an overview of the work that has taken place across 

Authorities to reach agreement on the Disabled Facilities Grant allocations for 

2016/17, the subsequent agreed position, progress against the 

Gloucestershire Action Plan and next steps.

Recommendations to Board: 

The Board is asked to note the current position, progress to date, 

Gloucestershire being invited to join the national board tasked with providing 

guidance for future years’ allocations via the BCF and proposed local 

governance and reporting arrangements.

Financial/Resource Implications: 

There is no requirement for additional resources, the paper sets out the 

progress made to pool available monies across organisations and systems to 

provide innovative solutions to ensure older people and their housing needs 

are adequately addressed in terms of adaptations and/or services to help 

them lead full and healthy lives.

Page 43

Agenda Item 8



2

1 Introduction

The purpose of this paper is to provide an update on progress within the Better Care 

Fund (BCF) in relation to housing and health outcomes. The paper includes an 

overview of the work that has taken place across Authorities to reach agreement on 

the Disabled Facilities Grant allocations for 2016/17, the subsequent agreed 

position, progress against the Gloucestershire Action Plan and next steps.

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) is the term used for the provision of adaptations to 

disabled and older people’s homes to help them to live independently for longer.  

The BCF is a pooled fund between Clinical Commissioning Groups and Local 

Authorities under section 75 of the NHS Act 2002.

1 The Better Care Fund

The Better Care Fund was announced in 2013 as a national policy framework to 

drive the transformation of local services to ensure people receive better and more 

integrated care.  Clinical Commissioning Groups and Local Authorities have pooled 

budgets to establish a BCF fund to support integration across health and social care 

in all areas by 2020.

The BCF Metrics

 Local metric: Improve the quality of life of carers

 Reduce the numbers of people over 65 years old in residential care 

 Reduce emergency admissions

 People are at home 91 days post discharge

 Reduce Delayed Transfers of Care (DToCs)

 Improve patient experience

The BCF is focused on supporting people to remain in their own home while 

receiving appropriate intervention and care and requires partnership working across 

statutory organisations and the voluntary sector. The link between poor housing and 

Page 44



3

poor health outcomes has been highlighted nationally as an area local BCF plans 

should seek to address.

In Gloucestershire the connection between the Better Care Fund (BCF) and housing 

and health outcomes was identified in 2015/16.  A housing group was formed as a 

sub-group of the BCF Provider Forum, however, membership was wide and the 

group struggled to find a cohesive strategy for meeting the needs of older and 

disabled people in relation to housing.  On a more positive note it did allow for 

engagement with Districts about the BCF agenda and the strategic direction being 

formed with partners across the county. 

 

2 Progress to date on housing

Following discussion at the Gloucestershire DFG Forum a workshop was held in 

June 2016 to which all Districts were invited.  The purpose of the workshop was to 

draw on the expertise of District Officers and other professionals responsible for the 

DFG process to explore innovative ways of delivering DFGs and bring about closer 

working between housing, social care and health.  A number of national speakers set 

out the national direction seeking innovation in early intervention and more strategic 

planning for the use of adaptations to improve outcomes for service users.  Following 

the workshop a high level action plan was produced (Appendix 1) and a more 

detailed draft action plan is in the process of being reviewed in terms of financial 

resourcing (Appendix 2). 

Alongside the action plan is a work-stream conducting an options appraisal for future 

delivery models of the Home Improvement Agency post July 2017.  District Strategic 

Directors have indicated a hybrid model for the provision of major adaptations, 

‘handyman’ services and information and advice is their preferred option.  Temporary 

capacity is required to both develop and implement the hybrid model and there is a 

clear link to the DFG action plan.

After the workshop a party of County Council, CCG and District representatives 

visited Leicestershire to learn more about their Lightbulb Project.  Lightbulb is a 

partnership Programme supported by the seven District Councils and County 

Council.  It aims to bring together a range of practical housing support into a single 

Page 45



4

point of access or referral.  A holistic housing needs assessment (the Housing MOT) 

will ensure that housing support needs are proactively identified and that the right 

solution is found.  The overall ambition is to maximise the contribution that housing 

support can play in keeping vulnerable people independent in their homes; helping to 

avoid unnecessary hospital admissions or GP visits and facilitating timely hospital 

discharge.  The Housing MOT could also include simple prompts to check for 

example that individuals are registered with a GP or have had a flu vaccination.  In 

Gloucestershire we have adopted some of the learning into our action plan and will 

also seek to ensure we have housing expertise available to all health and social care 

staff within the acute and community setting.

At the workshop non-injurious falls were highlighted as having a significant impact on 

individuals and system flow, sometimes more in relation to the unintended 

consequences of the support provided.  Many older people end up in the acute 

setting when a more conservative approach may have been more beneficial overall.  

In order to provide a robust falls pick up service it was identified from previous 

experience that a discreet service sitting outside the more obvious emergency 

services would likely only serve a very few.  Therefore, work has commenced with 

the Fire and Rescue Service to provide a comprehensive countywide pick up service 

aligned to the front line ambulance service. A training programme is being delivered 

and the new service will start in April 2017.

This also links to the work in progress with the Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB), the 

Winter Resilience Project.  This is a national pilot being undertaken in Gloucester, 

Cheltenham and Tewkesbury that will provide a single point of contact referral 

service for people with cold homes.  A referral to the service enables a customer to 

receive advice on energy efficiency measures, appropriate energy tariff checks, 

welfare benefit checks, small grants for household items (white goods, carpets, etc.,) 

and support with fuel bills and other debts affecting household income.  Those 

accessing the service receive access to all CAB services as well as agencies such 

as Severn and Wye Energy Agency (SWEA) and customers are supported with a full 

case management service delivered by specialist citizens advice staff.

Page 46



5

There is an opportunity to streamline the CAB pilot more effectively to specifically 

identify those people living in poor housing and experiencing poor health, often 

resulting in many admissions to hospital.  Working with available information and 

existing services such as the Respiratory team the intention is to increase the value 

of the pilot beyond referring into the Warm and Well Service that currently supports 

with insulation and advice on energy tariffs by targeting specific groups or individuals 

who may benefit.

Districts are in the process of tendering for a data based housing review in each 

area.  This will provide a comprehensive overview across housing in the county that 

will support the action plan development, ensuring the plans are based on need.  

The Housing Learning and Improvement Network (Housing LIN), a national housing 

organisation, will also be undertaking a review of Extra Care Housing (ECH) in 

Gloucestershire providing information on what facilities work well currently and what 

might be needed into the future in terms of provision.  In the meantime an ECH 

workshop is being held in Gloucester City to raise awareness with front line staff of 

this option for older people and ensure they understand the model and how best to 

engage with it.

3 DFG Allocations – progress towards agreement in 2016

In March 2016, the Social Care Capital Grant historically issued to the County 

Council was discontinued for 2016/17 and Local Authorities were informed the 

monies would be issued as part of the DFG funding allocated via the BCF, thus 

providing an increased fund and an opportunity for Gloucestershire to come together 

to develop an innovative action plan to improve outcomes for older people.  Including 

DFG allocations in the BCF is intended to provide a platform for health, care and 

housing to agree joint plans to improve outcomes and ease pressure across 

systems, particularly the health system.  Furthermore, moving responsibility for the 

allocation of DFG funds from the Department of Communities and Local Government 

(DCLG) to the Department of Health (DH) is a direct response to understanding 

systems are unsustainable unless partners work together across systems to deliver 

real change.  This sentiment is echoed within the Sustainability and Transformation 

Plan and programme of work

Page 47



6

For 2016/17 the county allocation increased from £2,549,000 in 2015/16 to 

£4,684,763 amounting to an additional £2,135,763 or 45.5%.  The table below sets 

out the allocations for 2016/17 and the increase for each area above both last year’s 

allocation and final spend. While it was acknowledged the full amount could be pass-

ported to each area, Districts would need to spend the monies on adaptions and it is 

unlikely individual authorities will be in a position to spend monies over and above 

existing spend.  In addition the BCF is clear that the plans for spending this 

additional funding need to be jointly agreed and predicated specifically on improving 

outcomes for service users.  BCF areas will be expected to report on how this money 

has been used to this effect.

Full 
allocation 

16/17
£

Fund available 
over and above 

allocation in 
15/16

£

Fund available over 
and above spend in 

15/16
£

Cheltenham Borough Council 701,434 318,434   

(45.3%)

247,594   (35.3%)

Cotswold District Council 903,196 426,196   

(47.1%)

287,412   (31.8%)

Forest of Dean 687,910 299,910   

(43.5%)

354,492   (51.5%)

Gloucester City 873,079 399,079   

(45.7%)

475,113   (54.4%)

Stroud District Council 574,746 244,746   

(42.5%)

319,310   (55.6%)

Tewkesbury Borough Council 944,398 447,398   

(47.3%)

286,813   (30.4%)

Total 4,684,763 2,135,763  
(45.5%)

1,970,734  (42.1%)

Page 48



7

While discussions were taking place as to how Gloucestershire could best benefit 

from investment of the additional funds a letter was sent from the DCLG to Section 

151 Officers at each of our District Authorities clearly stating these same Authorities 

should receive their ‘full’ allocation, which led to an impasse locally.  While there was 

some acknowledgement of the central government drive to innovate by combining 

the social care capital grant with DFG allocations, the S151 Officers believed they 

would have to sign off detailed spend and ongoing commitments to the DCLG via a 

system called the LOGASnet and felt they would be left in an invidious position that 

was not legally viable going forward.

Financial information from the previous 5 years suggested the 6 Districts would be 

most unlikely to increase spend exponentially on DFGs in 2016/17 and the BCF lead 

locally spent time with District Officers discussing the issue and assuring them that 

the overall spend could and would be signed off at county level and that the 

governance would be aligned to the BCF.  Assurance was also given that if Districts 

overspent on DFGs that the additional monies would be made available from the 

pooled fund.  Further discussions were held at District Strategic Director meetings 

where most parties were in agreement to pool.  

A paper setting out the options was prepared and a meeting was held with S151 

Officers where agreement was gained to produce a technical financial paper that 

S151 Officers could approve.  These two papers then went to the local District Chief 

Executive Officers’ meeting at the end of November 2016 where full agreement to 

pool monies over and above the 2015/16 allocations was agreed on the basis all 

Districts are fully funded for their respective actual spend on DFGs from the BCF.   

For the remainder of the DFG funding it was agreed to create a pooled budget 

hosted by the County Council.  This option will provide both a local and countywide 

approach, will be fully compliant with the national direction under the BCF and 

ensures Districts can remain compliant with their regulatory duties.  Finance Officers 

are working on the governance arrangements around accounting for this approach.

Of further note is the variance between spend across the Districts with some 

regularly overspending on their allocation.  For areas that underspend discussions at 

Page 49



8

Strategic Directors’ meeting led to general agreement to pool underspends into the 

overall pot, however, until this year allocations to Housing Authorities were simply 

based on previous allocations. The intention would be to better understand the 

reasons for variance and implement more preventative measures and innovation to 

reduce overspends.  This does not mean limiting the DFG process, however, it does 

mean utilising viable alternatives to DFGs where appropriate as there is evidence a 

focus on prevention and early intervention has improved peoples’ lives in a more 

timely way and also reduced spend in other areas. National evidence would suggest 

some areas with historical overspends have Registered Providers (RP) that are 

utilising a large proportion of the DFG budget.  While this may be wholly appropriate 

there is also emerging evidence that collaboration with RPs can reduce reliance on 

DFGs and promote better partnership working with a focus on seeking viable 

alternatives where possible.

4.  Governance and Reporting Arrangements

Given the responsibility for DFG allocations has moved from DCLG to the DH it is 

anticipated that assurance on spend will be required via the local BCF reporting 

structures.  The national team supporting the ministerial departments has reflected 

the Government’s desire this year to devolve decision making to a local level in light 

of the integration agenda and recognition that greater use may be made with the 

money if it is pooled across organisations.  

However, there is emerging evidence that many two tier areas are finding it 

challenging to reach agreement on this issue so it is likely guidance will be issued for 

2017/18. As a result of the progress made in Gloucestershire to pool the DFG fund 

an invitation has been received to join an Advisory Board hosted by Foundations and 

including membership from the Department of Health and DCLG.  This forum will be 

considering and then advising on the appropriate mechanisms or guidance required 

to support government and the sector in integrating effective delivery of the DFG 

within the BCF and will support the sector to make an effective contribution to 

government policy developments to drive greater integration between health, 

housing and care services.  Duties of the Board will include:

Page 50



9

 Prioritising the support for older and disabled people to maintain 

independence at home.

 Supporting central government and local authorities in integrating the DFG 

into the objectives of the BCF.

 Raising the quality and improving the customer experience of HIA services in 

general and the DFG in particular.

 Ensuring housing related advice and information is available to all and 

appropriate to need.

The focus on partnership working and assurance regarding robust governance has 

resulted in a positive outcome in Gloucestershire, albeit late in the day to achieve all 

the proposed aspirations for this financial year.  Work is now in progress with finance 

colleagues to convert some of the capital monies into revenue in order to enact 

some initiatives this year and the hope is that the level of funding will continue until 

2020 in order for us to achieve better outcomes for the older population.

A Strategic Housing Partnership Group is to be set up representing all Districts with 

County Council and CCG representation to drive the action plan, especially in 

relation to moving to a centralised model for DFGs to increase efficiencies, improve 

the referral pathway and ensure all alternative options have been explored with a 

focus on early intervention and prevention.  A national Memorandum of 

Understanding produced by Foundations and based on shared principles has been 

adapted for Gloucestershire by the District Strategic Directors to support the work of 

this group.

The Gloucestershire Action Plan will be monitored and driven by the Strategic 

Housing Partnership Group which will report into the Sustainability and 

Transformation Plan (STP) Prevention and Self Care Board.

4. Conclusion

Gloucestershire has reached agreement to pool available funds and work 

collaboratively to reach the aims of the action plan and the BCF.  Focus is now on 

Page 51



10

ensuring the financial reporting and governance systems are robust.  Once the 

action plan has been fully costed and a proportion of the monies converted from 

capital to revenue initiatives in the action plan that requires financial investment can 

commence.  In the meantime work is progressing to realise the benefits of the action 

plan not requiring additional resourcing and further updates will be provided as the 

national and local aspirations are progressed.

Page 52



Joint Action for Healthy Homes 
in Gloucestershire

Warm and Healthy Homes -
 Insulation and heating Improvement programmes & grants
 Energy saving advice and appropriate tariff and billing
 Access to home Improvement agencies
 Registration on priority services registers

More accessible
services through 
increased joint 
working across
organisations.

Independent Living Centre
 Opportunity to test equipment
 Assessments carried out & self  

 assessment available
 Range of items on show
 One stop shop for information
 Mainstream & specialist 

  provision

Disabled Facilities Grants 
(DFG)
	More	flexibility	to	carry	out	small		

 adaptations e.g. items under   
 £1,000
 Integrated services and 
	 assessment	with	specific	staff	
 allocated to reduce waiting times  
 for grants
 Strategic overview and 

 resource allocation

Falls Prevention
 Alternative Falls pick Up 

  Service
 Promotion of falls prevention
 Carry out small adaptations
 Focus on frequent faller

Planning
  OT/local commissioner 
  involvement at planning    
 stage of new builds. 
  Focus on standards of building
 	 Increased	flexibility	of	
  adaptations
  Social sustainability promoted  
 in new build developments

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Joint Action for Healthy Homes in Gloucestershire – Action Plan with costing and milestones - DRAFT

Issue 1 – DFG Virtual model (centralising functions, OT culture change programme)

No. Action By when Cost Assumptions
Cost-

Staffing(£)

Cost- Supplies 

& Services (£)

Cost- External 

Provider (£)

Revenue 

Cost- Total 

(£)

Capital 

Cost (£)

memo note 

Cost-

potentially 

1617 (£)

memo note 

Cost-

potentially 

recurring (£)

1.1 Explore feasibility of centralised DFG role. Q4 – 2016-17 Nil- Existing Staff input 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1.2 Work with district councils to assess level of staffing required   Q1 2017-18
Assume can be established 

on cost neutral basis
0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1.3 Clearly develop and define roles 1 – 3 months Nil- Existing Staff input 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1.4 Trial co-location of grants officers and OTs

Links to OT 

review 

timetable

Existing Staff input, but 

potential ICT costs
0 1000 0 1000 0 0 0

1.5
Review grant allocation process, explore feasibility of small 

grant allocations in cash, increase on £30,000 limit
Q1 2017-18

Nil cost to GCC/ GCCG, but 

may increase DFG 

payments in year, reduce 

available funding for Action 

Plan

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1.6
Review Leicestershire experience of innovation and 

integration, linked to 1.4 above 
Q1 2017-18 Nil- Existing Staff input 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1.7 ?

Arrange joint training sessions and events to disseminate 

information about available services to relevant professionals 

including Third Sector

6 months – 1 

year
Events- Hire & Materials 0 2000 0 2000 0 0 0

1.8 ?

Discuss opportunity to locate member of staff with housing 

expertise within ICT structure to support ICTs, IDTs, 

Community hospitals, acute trust etc.

 6 – 12 month 

pilot Q3 2017-

18

1 fte (I grade) + travel 36511 500 37011 0

Sub-Total 36511 3500 0 40011 0 0 0

Issue 2 – Creation of an Independent Living Centre facility, utilising private sector offering and ability to test innovative technology for telecare

No. Action By when Cost Assumptions
Cost-

Staffing(£)

Cost- Supplies 

& Services (£)

Cost- External 

Provider (£)

Revenue 

Cost- Total 

(£)

Capital 

Cost (£)

memo note 

Cost-

potentially 

1617 (£)

memo note 

Cost-

potentially 

recurring (£)

2.1

Consider opportunities for developing locality based 

Independent Living centres, e.g. at Community Hospital 

(similar to Bristol model)

Q2 – 2017-18

Full Costing required- 

building, equipment and 

staffing requirements to be 

researched

0 0

2.2

Develop one-stop-shop for information to publicise the 

available services, including self –assessment tool on the 

equipment website and NHS Information Bus, to encourage 

service user engagement/empowerment

Q1 2017-18 Nil- Existing Staff input 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 55



2.3

Link to Review of Safe at Home and recommendations for 

future HiA after 31.7.17.  Introduce ‘handyman’ service in 

districts responding to need following ending of HIA contract 

wef 1.8.17

Additional funding may be 

required, as current budget 

will support new service & 

maintenance contract 

(assume from same start 

date)

0 0 0 0 0

2.4
Work with potential equipment providers from mainstream and 

specialist provision for self-funders.
Links to 2.1 Potential Savings 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2.5 Reablement Flats in Extra-Care setting
Q1/ Q2 2017-

18

Full Costing required- 

assume joint development 

with existing ECH facility/ 

provider

0 0 0

Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Issue 3 – Winter Resilience Project – partnership with Citizen’s Advice Bureau

No. Action By when Cost Assumptions
Cost-

Staffing(£)

Cost- Supplies 

& Services (£)

Cost- External 

Provider (£)

Revenue 

Cost- Total 

(£)

Capital 

Cost (£)

memo note 

Cost-

potentially 

1617 (£)

memo note 

Cost-

potentially 

recurring (£)

3.1
Agree funding for healthy homes interventions based on the 

evidence available for 2016/17
Q4 2016-17

Business Case costing- 

funding staff at CAB or 

Auriga

0 60000 60000 0 ???
60000 x three 

years

3.2
Develop a business case for future investment in healthy 

homes and a model for allocating this from 2017/18 onwards
Q4 2016-17 Nil- Existing Staff input 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3.3
Ensure appropriate systems are in place to jointly monitor 

outcomes from healthy homes services. 

Links to Issue 

6
Nil- Existing Staff input 0 0 0 0 0

3.4

Develop promotional material (film/other) and information 

source to raise professional awareness of the link between 

housing and health and wellbeing 

Q2 2017 Cost of materials 2000 2000 0 0

Sub-Total 0 2000 60000 62000 0 0 0

Issue 4 – Falls Prevention, focusing on pick up for non- injurious falls at home 

No. Action By when Cost Assumptions
Cost-

Staffing(£)

Cost- Supplies 

& Services (£)

Cost- External 

Provider (£)

Revenue 

Cost- Total 

(£)

Capital 

Cost (£)

memo note 

Cost-

potentially 

1617 (£)

memo note 

Cost-

potentially 

recurring (£)

4.1
Falls pick up, explore alternative to ambulance service for non-

injurious falls.

Q4 16/17 to 

Q1 17/18

Costs identified to date-

initial provision of lifting aids 

to Fire Service staff to cover 

this phase

20000 20000 0 ??? tbc

4.2

Explore other options for preventing hospital admissions  and 

falls prevention with SWAST such as OT attending with a 

paramedic 

Q 2-3 2017-

18

Nil- Existing Staff input- 

including different use of OT 

capacity

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

4.3
Falls and housing, are there hot spots in the county, resource 

targeting, prevention agenda. Social prescribing links?
2017 Nil- Existing Staff input 0 0 0 0 0

Sub-Total 0 20000 0 20000 0 0 0

P
age 56



Issue 5 – Planning – Formal Process/market statement and relationship with commissioning

No. Action By when Cost Assumptions
Cost-

Staffing(£)

Cost- Supplies 

& Services (£)

Cost- External 

Provider (£)

Revenue 

Cost- Total 

(£)

Capital 

Cost (£)

memo note 

Cost-

potentially 

1617 (£)

memo note 

Cost-

potentially 

recurring (£)

5.1

Develop Healthy New town pilot bid for North Gloucestershire 

in line with local plans including appropriate accessibility 

standard for dwellings and Lifetime Neighbourhoods

Tbc

Full Costing needed in new 

bid- type of funding to be 

specified

0 0 0

5.2
Ensure appropriate accessibility standard is included in all 

District Council Local Plans.

Within Local 

Plan cycle
Nil- Existing Staff input 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5.3
OT involvement at planning stage of new builds to provide 

advice and guidance.

Linked to OT 

Review

Nil- Existing Staff input- 

including different use of OT 

capacity

0 0 0 0 0 0

5.4
Awareness of non-accommodation based needs. Explore 

funding for outreach service for street homeless. 
tbc 0 0 0 0

Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Issue 6 – Data – Gathering data to support service planning

No. Action By when Cost Assumptions
Cost-

Staffing(£)

Cost- Supplies 

& Services (£)

Cost- External 

Provider (£)

Revenue 

Cost- Total 

(£)

Capital 

Cost (£)

memo note 

Cost-

potentially 

1617 (£)

memo note 

Cost-

potentially 

recurring (£)

6.1
Develop a healthy homes data set and gain joint agreement to 

adopt and monitor this.
Autumn 17 Nil- Existing Staff input 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6.2

Explore feasibility of mapping housing and health conditions to 

enable service planning and targeting and implement (Link to 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment)

Autumn 17
Existing staff+ consultancy- 

x days at £500 per day ?
0 0 0 0

6.3

Consider the opportunities presented by the JUYI project in 

supporting the healthy homes agenda e.g. register of 

accessible or adapted properties 

JUYI 

implementatio

n

Costs covered within JUYI 

funding 
0 0 0

6.4

Understand and map referral routes to healthy homes 

services, including Third Sector services. Where does Lifestyle 

Matters fit?

Links to S3
Existing staff+ consultancy- 

x days at £500 per day ?
0 0 0 0

Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Policy for Our Approach to Review Charters and Policies 

Purpose

The purpose of this policy is to set out a process for the consideration of charters sent to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board that is clear and transparent for all stakeholders.

Decision Pathway

 The Board will review charters against its existing policies and strategies within the scope of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board see link.
Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board - Gloucestershire County Council

 If a charter submitted for consideration fits with the scope of the Board it will be forwarded to the 
local lead in that area.

 The lead will review the charter and consider four options 
1) The Charter fits with existing strategies or policies and requires no action 
2) The Charter fits with existing strategies or policies but amendments are required for 
compliance 
3) The Charter fits with the Board principles and priorities but there is no strategy or policy in 
place 
4) The Charter doesn’t fit with Board principles and priorities and will not be adopted

1) Charter complies with existing strategy or policy

 The local lead will review the charter checking whether the undertakings fit with our existing 
policies and practice whether the policy is already covered by these policies.

 If the charter is covered by existing policies the local lead will respond to the party submitting the 
charter to confirm our adherence within existing policies or strategies.

2) The Charter fits with existing strategies or policies but amendments are required for compliance

 If an existing policy requires amending the local lead will propose the amendments and write a 
report for the Board to approve.

3) The Charter fits with the Board principles and priorities but there is no strategy or policy in place

 The local lead will develop a draft strategy or policy for consideration by the Board.
 Once a draft policy has been endorsed the local lead will engage with other partners, 

stakeholders and practitioners to check out the approach. It is important that the Board gives an 
opportunity for others to influence, contribute and explore opportunities for joint approaches.

 Once this is completed the local lead will make any amendments and present the final version to 
the Board for adoption.

4) The Charter doesn’t fit with Board principles and priorities and will not be adopted

 If a charter doesn’t fit with the Board principles and priorities the party submitting it will be advised

Page 59

Agenda Annex

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/GHWB
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/GHWB


Timescales will vary according to the approach taken but the Board will endeavour to respond to 
submitting parties within six months.

April 2016

Review by April 2019

Page 60



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title  Alzheimer’s Society’s Dementia Pledge

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision

Sponsor Sarah Scott

Author Helen Vaughan, Joint Commissioning Manager for Dementia

Organisation Gloucestershire CCG

Key Issues:  

The national Alzheimer’s Society has invited the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board to 
engage with their campaign to encourage local leaders to:

 pledge that dementia will be a top priority in Gloucestershire
 support and participate in the local Dementia Friendly Challenge campaign

Recommendations to Board: 

 Identify a council Dementia Lead to work with the Dementia Clinical Programme Group to 
respond to the Alzheimer’s Society Local Councillors pledge

Financial/Resource Implications: 

Time and capacity to:

 Understanding existing dementia initiatives and commitments

 Identify and commit to addressing aspects of the Alzheimer’s Society pledge not currently 
met such as dementia awareness training

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



1. Dementia directly affects 8 500 people in Gloucestershire, and is a figure that 
is likely to rise in line with national demographic trends in later life, with the 
associated health, social care, economic and societal impact.

2. Clinicians in Gloucestershire have made great strides in improving the 
diagnosis rate of those thought to have dementia, from 32% in 2007 to 68% in 
2016. There is a continued commitment through the Gloucestershire Dementia 
Strategy to further increase this rate, so that families can access dementia 
support and services, recognising that communities also play a key role in 
supporting people to live and care well with dementia.

3. Principles of the Alzheimer’s Society initiative are already reflected and 
supported locally through:

a. Gloucestershire Dementia Strategy 2015 - 2018
b. Health & Wellbeing Strategy Healthy Ageing Action Plan 2016
c. Dementia Clinical Programme Group as part of Gloucestershire 

Sustainability and Transformation Plan
d. Jointly funded Dementia Training & Education Strategy with Forest of 

Dean District Council leading community development

4. The Alzheimer’s Society’s A Guide for Local Councillors: transforming the 
quality of life for people with dementia in the community identifies three 
key areas where they believe that local councils can influence improved 
support for those living with living with dementia through their roles in:

a. Better Care Fund and Sustainability and Transformation Plans
b. Delivery of Care Act
c. Reducing and prevention of risk factors associated with long term 

conditions

5. A Guide for Local Councillors: transforming the quality of life for people 
with dementia in the community sets out actions for local authorities to 
consider, many of which are already in place. However by working in 
partnership with the Dementia Clinical Programme Group, there is an 
opportunity to address a number of areas where actions are less well 
advanced. For example, raising dementia awareness of local leaders.

6. By supporting the pledge and guidance, councillors will be contributing to the 
county’s commitment to dementia in a way that will improve the good practice 
that is already happening, and enable Gloucestershire to make progress on 
non-clinical priorities and outcomes such as the built environment and 
community transport.

 

Page 62



Transforming the quality of life for people with dementia in the community

A guide for councillors: 
Transforming the quality of life for people 
with dementia in the community

Page 63



A guide for councilors

Changing the lives of people with dementia: 
a priority for everyone

Page 64



3

Transforming the quality of life for people with dementia in the community

There are over 685,000 people living with dementia across England,  
many of  whom are not living well and can’t access the vital care and 
support they need. 

The average cost of a year’s dementia care is £32,250 per patient, and it is 
estimated that dementia costs the English economy £22.1 billion annually.  
There is no doubt as to the tough challenge this poses. Whilst the population  
ages and demand for social care grows, we know that local authorities have 
reduced expenditure on adult social care by £4.6 billion since 2010.

With two-thirds of people living with the condition doing so in the local community, 
it is local authorities who hold the key to helping people with dementia live well in 
their community.

That is why Alzheimer’s Society is calling on all local councils and communities 
across the country to support our vision to improve the lives of people affected by 
dementia and work towards building dementia friendly communities by 2020.

By prioritising the needs of people with dementia, not only can local authorities 
meet the needs of a significant proportion of its older population, but also provide 
services that respond to those with other long-term conditions.

Local councils can make a difference by:

 – Ensuring dementia is a key feature in integrated health and social care plans,  
a priority within the Better Care Fund and Health and Wellbeing Board

 – Delivering on the Care Act to ensure availability of the right support for people 
with dementia and their carers

 – Proactively informing the population how to reduce their risk of developing 
dementia

With leadership from councils now, everyone with dementia in the future can  
have a better quality of life. Working together we can improve the lives of people 
affected by dementia and work towards making your community dementia  
friendly by 2020.

Jeremy Hughes, CBE 
Chief Executive, Alzheimer’s Society

Dementia is the biggest health and social 
care challenge facing England today

Page 65



4

A guide for councilors

Dementia in the UK: key statistics

The total cost of dementia in the UK is estimated at

£26.3billion 

per year (2012/13 prices) 

Estimated number of people  
living with dementia in UK:

850,000
Estimated number of  
people under-65 living with 
dementia in the UK:

42,000
Average dementia diagnosis  
rate in the UK (March 2015):

66.5%
The societal cost of dementia 
in the UK is estimated at an 
average cost per person of:

£32,250
£4.3bn
is spent on healthcare costs

£10.3bn
is spent on social care costs 
(publicly and privately funded)

£11.6bn
is contributed by the work  
of unpaid carers of people  
with dementia

Two thirds 
of people with dementia  
live in the community

Page 66



5

Transforming the quality of life for people with dementia in the community

5

Around three quarters of people think that 
communities and society as a whole are not 
geared up to deal with dementia1. For many of 
those living with dementia, having a good  
quality of life is a distant dream, with support for 
everyday things like shopping or participating  
in community unavailable. 

But local authorities can really help to build 
dementia friendly communities.

Alzheimer’s Society Dementia Friendly 
Communities Programme focuses on improving 
inclusion and quality of life for people with 
dementia, with many areas across the country 
already taking action to become dementia 
friendly by setting up local forums or Dementia 
Action Alliances. These are made up of public, 
private and voluntary sector organisations  
who are taking action to become more  
dementia friendly. 

Our Dementia Friends initiative continues to  
raise awareness of dementia and is leading the 
change in communities to become more 
dementia friendly. Working with local  
government, this programme is the biggest  
ever initiative to change people’s perceptions of 
dementia. It aims to transform the way the  
nation thinks, talks and acts about the condition.

What local authorities can do?
 – Put forward a council motion to become a 

dementia friendly local authority.

 – Help establish (or join) a local dementia forum 
or action alliance and play a leadership role in 
its development.

 – Appoint a dementia lead within the council to 
ensure the needs of people with dementia are 
taken into account and lead the work around 
Dementia Friendly Communities.

 – Through Alzheimer’s Society, offer regular 
Dementia Friends sessions to councillors,  
council staff and the wider community.

 – Commit to council buildings becoming 
dementia-friendly. 

 – Work with transport providers to ensure 
transport is responsive and respectful to the 
needs of people with dementia.

 – Work with local business and other 
organisations to enable them to play their  
part, a little understanding about dementia 
and its effects is the only way to create 
dementia friendly communities.

 – Create a dementia friendly generation by  
rolling out dementia awareness resources  
for schools.

 – 1 in 10 people with dementia reported that they only left the house 
once a month (DFC August 2013)
 – Nearly 70% of people with dementia feel lonely and trapped in  
their own homes, with limited or no social networks
 – Less than half of people with dementia think their community has  
the services they need to help them live well with dementia

Raising awareness and building  
dementia-friendly communities

 1 Alzheimer’s Society. (2013). Building dementia-friendly communities: A priority for everyonePage 67



6

A guide for councilorsA guide for councilors

Page 68



7

Transforming the quality of life for people with dementia in the community

 – Dementia is the biggest health concern of the over 55s
 – 64% of people don’t know that regular exercise and physical activity 
could reduce the risk of developing dementia

Dementia represents a major public health 
challenge. It is anticipated that there will be over 
one million people with dementia in the UK by 
2021 and over two million by 2051 if no action  
is taken and current trends continue. 

At present there is no cure and limited effective 
treatments for dementia. However, a healthy diet, 
regular physical exercise, managing conditions  
like type 2 diabetes and high blood pressure  
and avoiding smoking and excessive drinking can 
reduce the risk of developing Alzheimer’s disease  
and vascular dementia (UK Health Forum, 2014).

A clear message of ‘What’s good for your heart  
is good for your head’ is needed throughout 
preventative public health interventions and 
campaigns to improve public understanding  
of how people can reduce their risk of  
developing dementia.

What local authorities can do?
 – Run local awareness raising campaigns  

focusing on risk reduction. In addition any 
campaigns on physical exercise, alcohol, 
smoking or diet should include a clear  
message of ‘What’s good for your heart is 
good for your head’. 

 – Public health teams and other health partners 
to prioritise dementia as a public health 
challenge and plan activity accordingly.

 – Make sure that Health and Wellbeing Boards 
include a plan for dementia in their health  
and wellbeing strategies.

 – Support Alzheimer’s Society’s annual  
Dementia Awareness Week. 

Public health and prevention:  
reducing the risk of dementia  

Page 69



8

A guide for councilors

 – The cost of dementia in the UK is estimated at £26.3 billion  
per year (2012/13 prices)
 – The average cost of dementia per person per year is £32,250 
 – 70% of people with dementia have a co-morbidity

Nearly everyone living with dementia will 
require care and support from both the NHS 
and social care system as a result of dementia’s 
combination of features of chronic neurological 
disease, mental illness and physical frailty that 
cross the boundaries of the health and social 
care system.  

In recent years the diagnosis of people with 
dementia has doubled. This means more 
people are wanting to access information, 
advice and support to maintain independence 
and make more informed choices about their 
future life. 

People with dementia have to navigate a 
complex web of services from multiple providers 
and in different care settings, without 
appropriate co-ordination or a holistic 
perspective. We know, just in health and social 
care, that people with dementia have to access 
around twenty different local bodies and 
agencies just to get the vital care they need. 

Inaccessible services lead to worse outcomes 
for people with dementia and significant costs 
to the taxpayer. 

Integrated health and social care: 
the opportunity for change
The current financial pressures and the 
increasing demand on adult social care are 
putting local authorities under a lot of strain,  
so the need for change is greater than ever.  
The commitment to deliver local integrated 
health and social care plans, alongside new 
models of care vanguards and the Better Care 
Fund open up a real opportunity to transform 
the experience of health and care for people 
with dementia.

It’s essential that an integrated health social 
care pathway is in place to support people to 
live well with dementia. Without a diagnosis  
and the right support in the community, people 
with dementia often enter the health service  
at point of crisis, e.g. they end up in hospital 
following a fall, or are forced to enter a care 
home early.

Getting the right support: delivering  
integrated, person-centred dementia care

Page 70



9

Transforming the quality of life for people with dementia in the community

What local authorities can do?
 – Ensure that dementia features in the local 

integrated health and social care plan. 

 – Prioritise dementia in Better Care Fund  
plans and ensure that there is a focus on 
preventative care (community support),  
person centred care and joining up  
non-clinical care. 

 – Make information about local dementia 
services more accessible by embedding the  
free Dementia Connect database on the  
local authority website. 

 – Highlight dementia care as a key criteria for  
the success of local new models of care for 
older people.

 – Work with the CCG to address variations in 
dementia diagnosis rates and post-diagnosis 
support across your area, including how to 
reach seldom heard groups.

 – Ensure people with dementia, and their  
carers, are involved in both designing and 
commissioning integrated dementia health  
and social care services.  

Alzheimer’s Society estimates there are

289,000 

people living with dementia undiagnosed in the UK
Page 71



10

A guide for councilors

You can also:

 – Take forward a council motion to make your 
local authority dementia friendly 

 – Become a Dementia Friend 

 – Visit one of our local services and meet people 
affected by dementia in your area

 – Help us to raise awareness of dementia  
on social media, don’t forget to mention  
@alzheimerssoc 

To discuss what action you can take, please email 
stakeholderrelationsteam@alzheimers.org.uk  
and we will work with you to deliver the change  
people with dementia and their carers need.  

 
Dementia is the biggest  
health concern of the over 55s

Page 72

mailto:stakeholderrelationsteam%40alzheimers.org.uk?subject=


11

Transforming the quality of life for people with dementia in the community

www.alzheimers.org.uk/dementiafriendlycommunities 
Free resources and guides about making communities more dementia friendly.

www.alzheimers.org.uk/dementiaconnect 
Free online services directory for anyone affected by dementia in England, Wales and  
Northern Ireland. It can be embedded on other websites.

www.dementiaaction.org.uk 
Information about Dementia Action Alliances.

www.dementiafriends.org.uk 
Information about dementia awareness sessions.

www.dementiavoices.org.uk 
The Dementia Engagement and Empowerment Project, resources about involving and  
consulting people with dementia.

www.dementiaaction.org.uk/dementiafriendlyschools 
Dementia friendly school resources. 

www.alzheimers.org.uk/training 
Alzheimer’s Society offers training and consultancy services.

Alzheimer’s Society’s Stakeholder Relations team can also provide resources and further  
information on how to take forward any of the actions suggested in this leaflet. 

Please contact us at stakeholderrelationsteam@alzheimers.org.uk

Useful links and websites of interest

Page 73

http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/dementiafriendlycommunities
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/dementiafriendlycommunities
www.dementiaaction.org.uk
www.dementiafriends.org.uk
www.dementiavoices.org.uk
www.dementiaaction.org.uk/dementiafriendlyschools
www.alzheimers.org.uk/training
mailto:stakeholderrelationsteam%40alzheimers.org.uk?subject=


About Alzheimer’s Society
Alzheimer’s Society is the UK’s leading support and research charity  
for people with dementia, their families and carers. We provide  
information and support to people with any form of dementia and  
their carers through our publications, National Dementia Helpline,  
website, and 3,000 local services. 

We campaign for better quality of life for people with dementia  
and greater understanding of dementia. We also fund an innovative 
programme of medical and social research into the cause, cure and 
prevention of dementia and the care people receive.

For more information about dementia and the support available,  
visit alzheimers.org.uk or call our National Dementia Helpline on  
0300 222 1122.

Alzheimer’s Society 
Devon House 
58 St Katharine’s Way 
London E1W 1LB

020 7423 3500 
info@alzheimers.org.uk 
alzheimers.org.uk

Alzheimer’s Society operates in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, registered charity no. 296645. 

Page 74

mailto:info%40alzheimers.org.uk?subject=
alzheimers.org.uk


Prepared 5/1/17

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board 

Report Title Charter for Motor Neurone Disease (MND) 
Author: Motor Neurone Disease Association (MNDA) 2016

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision

Sponsor Teresa Middleton – Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (GCCG) Deputy Director of Quality

Author Liz Ponting –  GCCG Senior Quality and Development 
Manager

Organisation Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG)

Key Issues:  
The Gloucestershire Health and Well Being Board (HWBB) will consider the 
Charter for Motor Neurone Disease (MND) as outlined in the HWBB 
“Policy for Our Approach to Review Charters and Policies” 

Background

In 2001 NICE published the Technology Appraisal number 20 (TA20) 
Guidance on the use of Riluzole (Rilutek) for the treatment of Motor Neurone 
Disease. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta20

Riluzole is recommended for the treatment of individuals with the amyotrophic 
lateral sclerosis (ALS) form of Motor Neurone Disease (MND).

The NICE TA states that: 
“Treatment with Riluzole should only be started by a neurological specialist 
who is experienced in the management of MND. Routine supervision of 
therapy may be managed by general practitioners, but this should be under an 
agreement known as a shared care arrangement with the specialist.”

The implementation of treatment recommended within a NICE TA publication 
is mandatory. Therefore this medication must be available within 
Gloucestershire to patients, where indicated, within the licensed indications

Local availability

Riluzole is listed on the Gloucestershire Drug Traffic Light List and is classified 
as an ‘amber drug’ which means that it must be initiated by a secondary care 
specialist. 
It is recommended as per the NICE TA20 for use in the  amyotrophic lateral 
sclerosis form of Motor Neurone Disease.

Data from CCG finance department confirms that this treatment is being 
prescribed currently (2016-17) by neurologists and has also been prescribed 
during 2015-16.

Therefore with regard to the availability of Riluzole treatment, Gloucestershire 

Page 75

Agenda Item 10

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta20


Prepared 5/1/17

is compliant with the MND Charter recommendation.

Other non- drug aspects of the MND Charter for consideration

The recommendations within the Motor Neurone Disease Charter are wider 
than just recommending the use of Riluzole.
Others include:

 Early diagnosis and information
 High quality health care and treatments (such as Riluzole or NHS 

Continuing Health Care {CHC}, early access to palliative care and 
multidisciplinary care)

 To be treated with dignity and respect
 Maximise the patients quality of life
 The right to be valued, respected listened to and well supported

Conclusion

The commitments of the Charter have been considered under the HWBB’s 
recently adopted Policy for reviewing charters and policies.  

Gloucestershire is compliant with regards to drug treatment but local 
compliance with other recommendations within the charter may require further 
discussion from the HWBB

Recommendations to Board: 

The Board is recommended to sign up to the Charter for Motor Neurone 
Disease (MND), following additional discussion around recommendations in 
addition to drug treatment with Riluzole.

Financial/Resource Implications: 

Capacity to undertake the commitments under the Charter will be met within 
existing resources concerning the supply of the medicine Riluzole.

Supporting Documents

Appendix A: Charter for Motor Neurone Disease

Page 76



themndcharter
Achieving quality of life, dignity and respect for people with MND and their carers

Page 77



The MND Charter is a statement of the respect,  
care and support that people living with motor 
neurone disease (MND) and their carers deserve,  
and should expect.

We believe that everyone with a connection 
to MND, either personally or professionally, 
should recognise and respect the rights of 
people with MND as set out in the Charter, 
and work towards the Charter’s vision of the 
right care, in the right place at the right time.

About MND:
●   MND is a fatal, rapidly progressing 

disease that affects the brain and  
spinal cord.

●   It can leave people locked in a failing 
body, unable to move, talk and 
eventually breathe.

●   A person’s lifetime risk of developing 
MND is up to one in 300.

●   It kills around 30% of people within 12 
months of diagnosis, more than 50% 
within two years.

●   It affects people from all communities.

●   It has no cure.

Therefore, what matters most is that people 
with MND receive a rapid response to their 
needs and good quality care and support, 
ensuring the highest quality of life as 
possible and the ability to die with dignity. 
The MND Charter serves as a tool to help 
make this happen. 

MND is a devastating, complex disease and 
particularly difficult to manage. We believe 
that if we get care right for MND we can get 
it right for other neurological conditions, 
and save public services money in the long 
run. But more importantly, we can make 
a positive difference to the lives of people 
with MND, their carers and their loved ones.

Page 78



1

2

People with MND have the right to an early diagnosis 
and information 
● An early referral to a neurologist.
● An accurate and early diagnosis, given sensitively.
● Timely and appropriate access to information at all stages of their condition.

There is no diagnostic test for MND – it can only 
be diagnosed by ruling out other neurological 
conditions. People with MND can be halfway through 
their illness before they receive a firm diagnosis.

GPs need to be able to identify the symptoms and 
signs of a neurological problem and refer directly to 
a neurologist in order to speed up diagnosis times 
for MND. 

Appropriate tests must be carried out as soon as 
possible to confirm MND. The diagnosis should be 
given by a consultant neurologist with knowledge 

and experience of treating people with MND1. The 
diagnosis should be given sensitively, in private, 
with the person with MND accompanied by a family 
member/friend and with time to ask questions. A 
follow-up appointment with the neurologist should 
be arranged soon after diagnosis.

At diagnosis people with MND should be offered 
access to appropriate information and should be 
informed about the MND Association. Appropriate 
information should be available at all stages of the 
person’s condition in a language of their choice.

People with MND have the right to high quality care 
and treatments 
● Access to co-ordinated multidisciplinary care managed by a specialist key 

worker with experience of MND.
● Early access to specialist palliative care in a setting of their choice, including 

equitable access to hospices.
● Access to appropriate respiratory and nutritional management and support, as 

close to home as possible. 
● Access to the drug riluzole.
● Timely access to NHS continuing healthcare when needed.
● Early referral to social care services. 
● Referral for cognitive assessment, where appropriate.

People with MND may need care provided by health 
and social care professionals from up to 20 disciplines.  
This clearly needs co-ordination to work effectively. 
Co-ordinated care can improve the quality of life 
of people with MND and provide value for money 
for the NHS by preventing crises and emergency 
hospital admissions. The care should be co-ordinated 
by a specialist key worker with experience of MND 
who can anticipate needs and ensure they are met 
on time. Ongoing education for health and social 

care professionals is important to reflect advances in 
healthcare techniques and changes in best practice. 

A third of people with MND die within 12 months 
of diagnosis. Early access to specialist palliative care2 
soon after diagnosis is therefore vital and should be 
available in a setting of the person’s choice. Some 
hospices give preferential access to people with a 
cancer diagnosis. It is important that access is based 
on need, not diagnosis, so that people with MND 
have equitable access to hospice care. Hospices can 

This MeaNs:

This MeaNs:

Page 79



3
People with MND have the right to be treated  
as individuals and with dignity and respect
● Being offered a personal care plan to specify what care and support  

they need.
● Being offered the opportunity to develop an Advance Care Plan to ensure 

their wishes are met, and appropriate end-of-life care is provided in their 
chosen setting. 

● Getting support to help them make the right choices to meet their needs when 
using personalised care options. 

● Prompt access to appropriate communication support and aids. 
● Opportunities to be involved in research if they so wish.

Everyone with MND should be offered a personal care 
plan3 to specify what care and support they need. 
The plan should be regularly reviewed as the disease 
progresses and the person’s needs change.

People with MND should be offered the opportunity 
to develop an Advance Care Plan4 to make clear their 
wishes for future care and support, including any 
care they do not wish to receive. The plan should 
be developed with support from a professional with 
specialist experience and may include preferences for 
end-of-life care.

Some people with MND will need support to help 
them make the right choices to meet their needs 
when using personalised care options, such as 
personal budgets.

As the disease progresses, some people with MND 
will experience difficulty speaking. It is important 

that people with MND can access speech and 
language therapy to help them maintain their voice 
for as long as possible. However, as the disease 
progresses, people with MND may need access to 
communication aids including augmentative and 
alternative communication (AAC)5. The ability to 
communicate is a basic human right. For people 
with MND, communication support and equipment 
are vital in order to remain socially active and to 
communicate their wishes about their care, especially 
during hospital stays and other medical environments. 

Many people with MND value the opportunity to 
be involved in research as it provides hope that 
one day an effective treatment will be developed. 
Everyone with MND who wishes to should be able to 
participate in research as far as is practicable. 

This MeaNs:

provide high-quality respite care, which can benefit 
both the person with MND and their carer. 

As MND progresses, the respiratory muscles and 
muscles of the mouth and throat may be affected. 
People with MND may therefore need respiratory 
and nutritional support. It is important that these 
services are available as close to the person’s home as 
possible so that travelling is minimised and support is 
available quickly.

In 2001 the National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence (NICE) recommended riluzole as a cost-
effective drug for people with MND. GPs can be 
reluctant to prescribe riluzole on cost grounds, 
despite its NICE-approved status, or to monitor for 

side effects during its use. However, it is vital that 
people with MND have ongoing access to this 
important treatment.

As the disease progresses, people with MND may 
need more intensive health care. It is important 
that people with MND have timely access to NHS 
continuing healthcare when they need it.

People with MND are likely to need help with getting 
up, washing, dressing and preparing food as the 
disease progresses. Access to social care services 
is therefore important to maintain quality of life. 
People with MND may also need access to cognitive 
assessment, as up to half of people with the disease 
experience changes in cognition.

Page 80



1 Recomendation in the NICE guideline on MND.

2 Specialist palliative care – palliative care is the active holistic care of patients with progressive illness, including the provision of psychological, 
social and spiritual support. The aim is to provide the highest quality of life possible for patients and their families. Specialist palliative care is care 
provided by a specialist multidisciplinary palliative care team.

3 Personal care plan – a plan which sets out the care and treatment necessary to meet a person’s needs, preferences and goals of care. 

4 Advance care plan – a plan which anticipates how a person’s condition may affect them in the future and, if they wish, set on record choices 
about their care and treatment and/or an advance decision to refuse a treatment in specific circumstances so that these can be referred to 
by those responsible for their care or treatment (whether professional staff or family carers) in the event that they lose capacity to decide or 
communicate their decision when their condition progresses.

5 Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC) – is used to describe the different methods that can be used to help people with speech 
difficulties communicate with others. These methods can be used as an alternative to speech or to supplement it. AAC may include unaided 
systems such as signing and gesture as well as aided systems such as low tech picture or letter charts through to complex computer technology. 

4
People with MND have the right to maximise their 
quality of life 
● Timely and appropriate access to equipment, home adaptations, 

environmental controls, wheelchairs, orthotics and suitable housing.
● Timely and appropriate access to disability benefits.

People with MND may find their needs change 
quickly and in order to maximise their quality of life, 
they may need rapid access to equipment, home 
adaptations, wheelchairs and suitable housing. These 
needs should be anticipated so that they are met in 
a timely way. This is particularly true of wheelchairs 
which are important for maximising independence 
and quality of life.

People with MND need timely and appropriate access 
to disability benefits to help meet the extra costs of 
living with a disability. Information on appropriate 
benefits needs to be readily accessible in one place 
and easily understandable.

Carers of people with MND have the right to be 
valued, respected, listened to and well supported
● Timely and appropriate access to respite care, information, counselling and 

bereavement services.
● Advising carers that they have a legal right to a Carer’s Assessment of their 

needs1, ensuring their health and emotional well being is recognised and 
appropriate support is provided.

● Timely and appropriate access to benefits and entitlements for carers.

Caring for someone with MND is physically and 
emotionally demanding. Carers need to be supported 
in order to maintain their caring role. Every carer 
should have their needs assessed and given timely 
and appropriate access to respite care, information, 
counselling and bereavement services. It is important 
to support the emotional and physical needs of the 

carer in a timely way so that they can continue their 
caring role. 

Carers should also have timely and appropriate access 
to benefits and entitlements to help manage the 
financial impact of their caring role.

This MeaNs:

This MeaNs: 

5

Page 81



“Many people with MND die without 
having the right care, not having a suitable 
wheelchair, not having the support  
to communicate. 

We have got to set a standard so that 
people like us are listened to and treated 
with the respect and dignity we deserve. 

We have got to stop the ignorance surrounding this disease and 
have to make sure that when a patient is first diagnosed with MND, 
they must have access to good, co-ordinated care and services. 

One week waiting for an assessment or a piece of equipment is like 
a year in most people’s lives, because they are an everyday essential 
to help us live as normal a life as possible and die with dignity”

Liam Dwyer, who is living with MND

© MND Association 2016

MND Association
PO Box 246 Northampton NN1 2PR
www.mndassociation.org

Registered charity no 294354

We are proud to have the following organisations supporting  
the MND Charter:

Royal College of General Practitioners

Association of British Neurologists

Royal College of Nursing

Chartered Society of Physiotherapy

College of Occupational Therapists

Royal College of Speech & Language Therapists 

British Dietetic Association

For more information:
www.mndassociation.org/mndcharter
Email: campaigns@mndassociation.org 
Telephone: 020 7250 8447

Page 82


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meetings
	Minutes , 29/11/2016 Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

	7 Future in Mind Transformation Plan - Update
	Appendix 2 Gloucestershire's FIM Outcomes and KPIs
	Future in Mind update Appendix 3

	8 Housing - Report from the Better Care Fund Forum
	Appendix 1 Healthy Homes Poster2
	Appendix 2 Healthy Homes Action Plan Summary  Costing Dec 16 -DRAFT

	 CHARTERS
	9 Charter: Transform the lives of people with dementia in your community
	A guide for LA - Supporting people with Dementia

	10 Motor Neurone Disease Association (MNDA) Charter
	MND Charter


